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          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Good afternoon,

          3  everyone, and welcome to today's hearing for the

          4  Civil Service and Labor Committee.  My name is Joe

          5  Addabbo.  I'll be chairing the hearing.  I'll

          6  introduce the colleagues of mine as they come into

          7  the hearing.

          8                 Right now, I'd just like to thank a

          9  couple of people who have put this hearing together.

         10  Joan Povolny, our Policy Analyst, to my right here

         11  is Harold Gates, our Legal Counsel, Jeff Gottlieb,

         12  my Legislative Aid, Jake Herring, Jerome Hoffman.

         13  I'd like to thank the Sergeant-at-Arms for being

         14  here today, as well. Again, I thank you all for

         15  attending and being a part of this hearing.

         16                 Today's hearing for the Civil Service

         17  and Labor Committee is going to be held in two

         18  parts.  The first part, we will have an oversight

         19  hearing, discussing the programs offered to assist

         20  individuals with training with civil service jobs.

         21                 The second part of the Committee

         22  hearing will entertain a vote on Intro. 370, which

         23  pertains to tours of duty for the Department of

         24  Correction workers.

         25                 First part, the New York City

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  Government employs over 400,000 people.  Most of us

          3  know that the Department of Citywide Administrative

          4  Services, DCAS, is a place to go for information

          5  concerning civil service exams, filing dates, test

          6  dates and related information.  But, today, we will

          7  discuss programs and training that offer assistance

          8  to many civil service jobs and careers and we are

          9  hopeful that this will provide insight to helping

         10  others in the pursuit of their career.

         11                 At this point, I'd like to welcome

         12  our first panel.  Thank you very much for being

         13  here.  We have Michael Forte, from DCAS, I believe

         14  we should have Neilia Brooks, Neilia, thank you, Ann

         15  Mayfield, Ann, and Alphonzo Albright.  Thank you.

         16  Please state your name, give your title, your

         17  affiliation and your testimony please.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:

         19  Michael Forte, Assistant Commissioner, Department of

         20  Citywide Administrative Services.  Good afternoon

         21  Chairman Addabbo.  I am Michael Forte, Assistant

         22  Commissioner for Personnel Development at the

         23  Department of Citywide Administrative Services.  On

         24  behalf of Commissioner Martha K. Hirst, I would like

         25  to thank you for this opportunity to discuss the
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          2  training opportunities DCAS makes available to all

          3  New York City employees.

          4                 DCAS' mission is to ensure that City

          5  agencies have the critical resources and support

          6  they need to provide the best possible services to

          7  the public.  Section 814 of the City York City

          8  Charter assigns DCAS the power and duty to

          9  administer the City- wide safety incentive,

         10  training, and development and other such personnel

         11  programs of the City and to administer personnel

         12  programs of a City- wide nature or common to two or

         13  more departments where administration by separate

         14  agencies would be impracticable and uneconomical.

         15  DCAS fulfills these responsibilities through the

         16  provision of City- wide employee training, enhanced

         17  educational opportunities and professional

         18  development programs.

         19                 All of our programs, resources and

         20  services exist to enhance and support the efforts of

         21  City employees in developing innovative programs and

         22  delivering effective services to the citizens of New

         23  York City.  It is a challenging and demanding

         24  responsibility, but we believe that such an

         25  investment in our workforce is critical to meeting
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          2  the challenges our City faces and complements Mayor

          3  Bloomberg's commitment to improving New York City

          4  Government through technology and delivering

          5  unprecedented levels of service to the public.

          6  Furthermore, it's also a very rewarding

          7  responsibility.

          8                 I would like to begin by, number one,

          9  describing for you the wide range of training

         10  programs that we offer. Number two, highlighting

         11  some agency- specific training programs, as well as

         12  some of our newest programs.  Then, give you the

         13  opportunity to hear from our panel of people who

         14  have been through some of our training programs.

         15                 The DCAS Bureau of Personnel

         16  Development is the central training resource within

         17  New York City Government and is dedicated to

         18  assisting City agencies in their efforts to use

         19  training to enhance the economy, efficiency and

         20  effectiveness of their operations.  To that end, we

         21  manage the Citywide Training Center and conduct

         22  Citywide Executive Development Programs.

         23                 The Citywide Training Center provides

         24  a comprehensive curriculum of courses, workshops and

         25  seminars to meet the training and development needs

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  of managerial, supervisory, administrative,

          3  clerical, auditing, procurement, professional,

          4  technical and training personnel at all City

          5  agencies.

          6                 The CTC services are available to

          7  City employees in mayoral and non- mayoral agencies,

          8  elected officials' offices, boards and commissions.

          9  CTC offers a wide range of courses designed to

         10  improve both individual and agency performance.

         11  Course categories include: Workplace Effectiveness,

         12  Communication, Management and Supervision, Computer

         13  Technology Skills, Procurement, Auditing, a new

         14  employee orientation program and the Administrative

         15  Professional Certificate Program.

         16                 Our expert faculty come from the

         17  public, private and non- profit sectors and as

         18  practitioners of the skills they teach, bring a

         19  wealth of experience to City- specific issues and

         20  situations.

         21                 CTC currently offers more than 200

         22  course titles and in FY 2006, provided training to

         23  over 12,000 employees in nearly 1,000 class

         24  sessions.  Furthermore, all CTC training programs

         25  can be customized to meet agency- specific
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          2  objectives, as well as location and time

          3  constraints.

          4                 For many employees, the Citywide

          5  Training Center offers the opportunity to begin

          6  acquiring and refining basic workplace skills.

          7  Training in these areas not only enhances the job

          8  performance of the employees who participate, but

          9  also provides an important foundation for future

         10  career advancement.

         11                 For example, employees with little or

         12  no computer skills are able to participate in hands-

         13  on computer training and become proficient in a host

         14  of workplace software applications such as Microsoft

         15  Outlook, Word, Excel and Access.

         16                 Other CTC workplace foundation

         17  courses include basic customer service and both

         18  written and interpersonnel, interpersonal

         19  communication classes, including Action Grammar,

         20  Successful Letter Memo Writing and Easy English for

         21  the Multi Lingual Writer.

         22                 Additionally, we offer a Preparing

         23  for Supervision: Managing the Transition course for

         24  employees with no prior supervisory experience.

         25                 One of the ways that DCAS promotes
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          2  the training center's many offerings is through an

          3  annual Training EXPO.  This year, our EXPO took

          4  place September 12th to 19th and 762 employees

          5  participated, representing 47 agencies.

          6                 In addition to the CTC, DCAS offers

          7  specialized development opportunities for both

          8  seasoned executives and emerging leaders within City

          9  government through its Citywide Executive

         10  Development Programs.  These programs include the

         11  Leadership Institute, the Management Academy and the

         12  Human Resource Program of Professional Practice.

         13  They focus on best and next practices for public

         14  sector executives with an emphasis on strategic

         15  change, leadership and management, innovation and

         16  understanding key areas of City systems and

         17  processes.

         18                 The Leadership Institute helps to

         19  prepare a select group of outstanding mid- level

         20  agency executives to lead organizational change

         21  initiatives.  The curriculum introduces managers to

         22  state- of- the- art change models that focus on

         23  innovation, process and performance improvement.

         24                 While the Leadership Institute

         25  targets current mid- level executives, the
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          2  Management Academy focuses specifically on the

          3  City's new and emerging leaders.  The Management

          4  Academy's goal is to expose participants to

          5  exceptional management practices and offer them a

          6  fuller understanding of the formal and informal

          7  processes that drive City government.

          8                 In addition to creating and

          9  implementing break through service delivery

         10  improvements in their areas of expertise, we expect

         11  the array of talented, up and coming managers in

         12  both programs to be the next generation of Assistant

         13  and Deputy Commissioners and then Commissioners of

         14  New York City agencies.

         15                 Recognizing the critical role of

         16  human resources in an efficient and effective

         17  government, two long- term courses, specifically for

         18  agency human resources professionals, together

         19  called Human Resource Programs of Professional

         20  Practice, were created by the Bloomberg

         21  Administration.

         22                 The Agency Personnel Officer Master

         23  Class offers an intensive immersion into New York

         24  City- specific HR policies and procedures,

         25  facilitating interagency learning and networking
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          2  among its participants.  The Human Resources

          3  Management course, offered in cooperation with Pace

          4  University, provides an overview of the key roles

          5  and functions of a senior human resource generalist.

          6    The course also prepares participants to take the

          7  Society for Human Resource Management exam, helping

          8  them to become certified human resource

          9  professionals.

         10                 Each of our Executive Development

         11  programs requires an extensive commitment on the

         12  part of program participants and the agencies

         13  sponsoring them.  Programs vary in length from two

         14  and a half to four months, and consist of weekly

         15  seminars, site visits, application projects and

         16  program presentations.  Completion of our programs

         17  is a significant career accomplishment of which

         18  graduates can be very proud.  I am pleased to

         19  mention that tomorrow we will be recognizing 59 of

         20  our most recent Executive Development graduates,

         21  representing 33 City agencies, at a Gracie Mansion

         22  breakfast reception.

         23                 In addition to the courses offered at

         24  the Citywide Training Center, DCAS also works with

         25  City agencies, including elected officials' offices,
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          2  boards and commissions, to provide customized

          3  training programs for their employees.  These

          4  customized examples have ranged from the training of

          5  the 3- 1- 1 Call Center staff to the following

          6  recent examples:

          7                 A management and leadership

          8  development program for the Department of Buildings

          9  and a Customer Service training program that's

         10  reaching over 500 employees;

         11                 Customized investigative interviewing

         12  for over 200 HRA Office of Child Support Enforcement

         13  employees;

         14                 A field inspector safety program

         15  that's currently in development for the Department

         16  of Health of Mental Hygiene, that is expected to

         17  reach over 500 employees; and

         18                 An agency- wide technology training

         19  initiative that reached over 2,000 employees.  We

         20  did one for the City's Comptroller's Office and one

         21  for the Manhattan District Attorney's Office.

         22                 You'd be interested to know that a

         23  number of our programs also support the legislative

         24  initiatives of the Council and some examples of

         25  these are:
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          2                 A new Design and Construction

          3  Excellence program, that includes an Introduction to

          4  Sustainable Design and LEED course, as well as a

          5  Green Building Issues in Procurement class. Those

          6  are in support of Local Law 86;

          7                 We've done a number of courses and

          8  training initiatives on MWBE, in cooperation with

          9  the Mayor's Office of Contract Services and the

         10  Department of Small Business Services; and

         11                 We've also offered an Environmentally

         12  Preferable Purchasing course in support of Local

         13  Laws 118, 19, 20, 21 and 23.

         14                 I want to spend just a minute or two

         15  to talk about some new programs and initiatives.  As

         16  the information and skill needs of City employees

         17  continue to change, we continue to update our

         18  offerings and strategies to provide effective and

         19  relevant training opportunities and services.

         20                 The Citywide Training Center has

         21  recently been approved by the International

         22  Association for Continuing Education and Training,

         23  as a recognized provider of continuing education

         24  units, also known as CEUs.  As a recognized

         25  provider, CEUs are now being granted for all CTC
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          2  courses.  This provides employees a much wider

          3  opportunity to apply training toward professional

          4  certifications and other educational and career

          5  pursuits.

          6                 The CTC was also recently approved as

          7  a Microsoft IT Academy, which positions us to

          8  provide City agencies and employees with a

          9  coordinated curriculum, courseware and on- line

         10  collaboration tools to help achieve valuable IT

         11  certifications in Microsoft technologies.

         12                 A newly introduced Information

         13  Technology Training program now provides access to

         14  over 200 high quality technical training courses and

         15  60 certifications from industry leaders, such as

         16  Checkpoint, Cisco, Citrix, CIW, CompTia, Linux,

         17  Novell, Microsoft, Oracle and UNIX.  Further

         18  information about the IT training program and course

         19  schedules can be found on the internet at

         20  nyc.gov/techtraining.

         21                 Finally, we are now offering a new

         22  Working Well New York City half day course, designed

         23  to assist the City's workforce in promoting wellness

         24  and personal safety.  Experts from the Department of

         25  Health and Mental Hygiene and the Office of
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          2  Emergency Management will provide employees with

          3  strategies to improve their health and to be

          4  prepared for all types of emergencies.

          5                 These are just a few of our new

          6  initiatives for fall 2006, along with more than 30

          7  other new course offerings. All of our offerings and

          8  programs can be found on the internet at nyc.gov/ctc

          9  and nyc.gov/executivedevelopment, as well as in your

         10  information packets.  We handed out and everyone

         11  should have this black folder, that says Bureau of

         12  Personnel Development on the front of it.  It has in

         13  it a course catalog from the CTC, a pamphlet about

         14  our Administrative Professional Certificate program,

         15  which you're going to hear more about from one of my

         16  fellow panelists, a brochure that explains all of

         17  our Executive Development programs and the Human

         18  Resources program brochure as well.

         19                 DCAS is committed to ensuring the

         20  excellence of these Training and Executive

         21  Development programs and their relevance to the

         22  challenges of City government, so that employees at

         23  all levels are well prepared to meet those

         24  challenges.  We are extremely proud of the quality,

         25  variety and cost- effectiveness of these programs
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          2  and I extend an open invitation to you, Chairman

          3  Addabbo, and also to other Members of the Civil

          4  Service and Labor Committee, to visit the Citywide

          5  Training Center located at 2 Washington Street.

          6                 I would now like to introduce our

          7  panel of program alumni and then, together with

          8  them, answer any questions you may have.  Okay,

          9  first Neilia Brooks from the Manhattan District

         10  Attorney's Office, who is going to be reading a

         11  statement from one of our Administrative

         12  Professional Certificate program graduates, Millie

         13  Gomez.

         14                 MS. BROOKS:  Thanks.  Good afternoon.

         15    First of all, I want to apologize for Millie not

         16  being able to be here. She had a family emergency,

         17  so she asked me to read her statement for her.  I'm

         18  going to read it exactly as she wrote it, only I

         19  probably won't have the same personal feeling that

         20  she would be able to, to pass along to all of you.

         21                 Good afternoon everyone.  My name is

         22  Millie Gomez. I am a supervisor in the Human

         23  Resources Department of the Manhattan District

         24  Attorney's Office and I have worked for this agency

         25  for 31 years.  The reason that I am here this
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          2  afternoon is to voice my appreciation for having

          3  been given the opportunity to participate in the

          4  Administrative Professional Certificate program.

          5                 I completed the program and was

          6  awarded a Certificate of Completion at a special

          7  ceremony on October 25, 2005, to honor the

          8  Administrative Professional Certificate program

          9  graduates.  I attended the following training

         10  sessions as part of the program:  Managing Multiple

         11  Priorities, Dealing with Difficult People,

         12  Successful Workplace Communication, Effective Office

         13  Management for Today's Workplace and Intermediate

         14  Excel 2000.

         15                 The Administrative Professional

         16  Certificate program reinforced my supervisory skills

         17  and gave me the tools to be able to manage multiple

         18  priorities.  The course that I loved the most in the

         19  program was Dealing with Difficult People.  I

         20  learned not to take things personally and also

         21  developed methods to keep pressure from affecting my

         22  job performance.

         23                 The Certificate program also gave me

         24  skills that have improved my response to agency

         25  changes.  My training has enabled me to understand
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          2  my employees' resistance to it and my role as

          3  supervisor in communicating and implementing the

          4  changes that come from above.

          5                 I believe that the Administrative

          6  Professional Certificate program has made me a

          7  better supervisor and the program is an asset to all

          8  City employees who have also been given this

          9  wonderful opportunity.  The program should be

         10  extended so that more City professionals can advance

         11  their administrative and supervisory skills.  Thank

         12  you so much.

         13                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  Next

         14  is Ann Mayfield, from the Department of Homeless

         15  Services, who is going to speak about CTC programs

         16  in general.

         17                 MS. MAYFIELD:  Good afternoon.  My

         18  name is Ann Mayfield and I've been a Training

         19  Director for 16 of my 20 years with the City of New

         20  York.  For the past nine years, I've worked as the

         21  Director of Training for the Department of Homeless

         22  Services.  My role is to provide job- specific,

         23  practical training experiences for all levels of

         24  agency staff in every capacity. Therefore, I have to

         25  come to rely heavily on the services offered by the
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          2  Citywide Training Center.

          3                 Over the years, I've been very

          4  impressed and very grateful for the culture of

          5  customer service and continuous quality improvement

          6  that has been the hallmark of the wide variety of

          7  important programs at the CTC that hundreds of our

          8  staff have attended.  These programs include the

          9  open enrollment courses, covering oral and written

         10  communication, management, supervisory and

         11  interpersonal skills and the certification programs

         12  for procurement, audit and administrative

         13  professionals.

         14                 Staff who have attended these

         15  programs have been able to apply what they have

         16  learned to virtually every functional area of the

         17  agency, from administration, to social services, to

         18  fiscal operations, to policy planning and

         19  prevention.  The Citywide Training Center has also

         20  customized programs to meet the specific needs and

         21  realities of the DHS workplace.

         22                 Two examples stand out for me.  In

         23  the fall of 2004, as a component of the Mayor's Five

         24  Year Plan to end chronic homelessness, the agency

         25  embarked on an initiative to revamp the intake of
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          2  homeless families.  This initiative introduced a

          3  radical departure from the way the process had

          4  worked for over 200 staff who are conditioned by

          5  years of functioning in one mode and were now called

          6  upon to function in a completely different way.

          7                 To support this initiative, the

          8  agency engaged the services of the Citywide Training

          9  Center to design a course that would address the

         10  nature and the purpose of this particular change, in

         11  particular, the process of change, in general, and

         12  the attitude, the skills and the knowledge required

         13  to create the outcome required by the plan.

         14                 More recently, one of our

         15  Commissioners Human Resources initiatives is the

         16  establishment of performance discussions to be held

         17  between supervisors and their staff on a quarterly

         18  basis.  The purpose of these discussions is to

         19  compliment the existing annual performance

         20  evaluation process with opportunities for

         21  supervisors and staff to discuss performance

         22  priorities based on tasks and standards, so that

         23  every staff person has the best possible chance of

         24  meeting their supervisor's job performance

         25  expectations.
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          2                 Once again, the agency called upon

          3  the CTC to develop and conduct a program for all 500

          4  of our agency managers and supervisors.  As before,

          5  the CTC responded immediately with a high quality

          6  program.

          7                 In conclusion, given my education and

          8  experience in the training field, I can attest that

          9  every program in every category for which we have

         10  used the CTC services has been characterized by

         11  sound, instructional methodology, based on

         12  recognized principles of adult learning theory,

         13  appropriate levels of training participation, job

         14  relevant exercises and highly competent and

         15  experienced instructors.  The CTC is one of the most

         16  important resources the City has to offer its

         17  employees. Thank you.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  And

         19  finally, Alphonzo Albright, from Department of

         20  Probation, to speak on Executive Development

         21  Leadership Institute alone.

         22                 MR. ALBRIGHT:  Thank you.  Good

         23  afternoon.  My name is Alphonzo Albright.  I'm the

         24  Chief Information Officer for the New York City

         25  Department of Probation.  I was sponsored by New
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          2  York City Department of Probation to attend

          3  Leadership Institute in October of 2003.  The

          4  Leadership Institute assisted me with tremendous

          5  vision, strong moral character and taught me various

          6  ways to communicate with staff on new approaches.

          7                 While practitioners, teachers,

          8  professors and advisors came and went during my

          9  presence in the program, I'd like to thank Barbara

         10  Grossman, the Director of Organizational Executive

         11  Development Programs, the strategic genius, to me,

         12  who was there with my colleagues and I through it

         13  all.

         14                 In the Leadership Institute, we were

         15  able to share candid stories of our work experience

         16  and management styles in City government.  We were

         17  able to draw on treasured memories of our different

         18  roads in becoming who we were then and where we

         19  wanted to go in the future.

         20                 Leadership Institute forged a special

         21  relationship with the class of 2004.  Through its

         22  greatest gift, Leadership Institute provided the

         23  extraordinary ability to network, communicate both

         24  publicly and privately, changing organizational

         25  structure and indeed the City with words.  I share
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          2  the many lessons the Leadership Institute taught me,

          3  taking me on a behind the scenes journey through

          4  milestones in management and leadership styles.

          5                 In summary, the Leadership Institute

          6  taught me four key concepts.  While I learned these

          7  words as a young man years ago, Leadership Institute

          8  taught me how to utilize them in a strategic way.

          9  They are as follows: The acronym is CACG: Change

         10  through increased collaboration, reuse of design

         11  components and the adoption of best practices;

         12  Align, working with others to establish a common

         13  vision in which plan and direction; Communicate,

         14  vision and values to all to gain supportive

         15  strategic ideals for implementation and Guide, a

         16  Leadership Institute, as Leadership Institute did

         17  for me, design decisions consistent with principles

         18  and standards that I will share with others.

         19                 I believe the Leadership Institute's

         20  future challenge will be to continue to seek out

         21  skilled candidates, motivate them, develop their

         22  talent and channel their energy towards achievable

         23  goals.  Whether a problem is solved or resolved, the

         24  payoff in empowering their vision and passion to

         25  succeed is a success for the Leadership Institute.
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          2  Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Again, let me

          4  thank this panel for their time and testimony today.

          5    Before I get to any questions, let me introduce

          6  some of my colleagues who are Members of this

          7  Committee.  To my immediate left, Council Member

          8  Melissa Mark Viverito, to your far left, well, Larry

          9  Seabrook was here, we now have Council Member Mike

         10  Nelson and Council Member James Gennaro was here as

         11  well.

         12                 Before I get to any questions from my

         13  colleagues, just a couple that I may have.  I think,

         14  you know, what DCAS is doing as far as their

         15  programs are concerned is to be commended for our

         16  workforce.  Obviously, this would lend to a more

         17  efficient, more successful workforce in the future,

         18  as our panel has mentioned.

         19                 My question as far as outreach, how

         20  do we get these programs to be known to our

         21  workforce, that they exist? What kind of outreach,

         22  you mentioned a little bit in your testimony, but if

         23  you could expand on the outreach.  How do we inform

         24  our City workforce that these programs, these tests,

         25  these training programs exist?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  Well,

          3  there are a number of ways.  One of the main ways in

          4  the last couple of years has obviously been

          5  electronically.  We have all of our offerings are

          6  available on the website and that's both externally

          7  from any place where there's access to the Internet,

          8  as well internally, on the City's network.  So, all

          9  of the offerings are available in that way.

         10                 We also, at just about every agency,

         11  we have a liaison and I'm going to also let Ann

         12  speak to this a little bit, at DHS, Ann Mayfield is

         13  our liaison.  So, we coordinate very heavily with

         14  those people at each agency and work with them to

         15  get the word out.

         16                 Also, I had mentioned in the

         17  testimony, we do conduct various promotional events.

         18    One example of that is the Training EXPO.  This is

         19  the second year that we've done that and we had over

         20  700 employees participate in that.  We use that as

         21  an opportunity not only to provide them some

         22  training when they participate, but also to put into

         23  their hands all of our promotional materials.  A lot

         24  of times, when they go back to their office, you

         25  know, we'll give out extra sets and they'll take it
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          2  and they'll share it.  So, we are, you know, we are

          3  pretty well known.  We do work hard at getting the

          4  word out and maybe, Ann, if you want to add

          5  anything?

          6                 MS. MAYFIELD:  I can.  As soon as we

          7  receive notice that a new training semester or a new

          8  training program is about to begin, a new

          9  application period, what we will do is we will reach

         10  out to all the supervisors and the managers in our

         11  agency.  We'll reach out to them by phone, but

         12  mostly by e- mail, we'll let them know that they can

         13  access these applications off the Internet, which

         14  they, most of them, just about all of them have

         15  access to.

         16                 We also make sure to have plenty of

         17  hard copies of the catalog and the applications

         18  available, so that we receive, receive applications

         19  from the top down and sort of from the bottom up.

         20  An employee might see a course that they really

         21  think will help them to do their jobs a little more

         22  efficiently, but they get the approval from their

         23  supervisor and we send that, those applications

         24  along.

         25                 Supervisors might see courses that
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          2  they believe, from their perspective, their staff

          3  members can benefit from. So, they will have the

          4  employees fill out the application and they will

          5  sign them and we will process them from there.  So,

          6  we take a lot of care in trying to make known

          7  throughout the agency what these opportunities are.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Do you feel

          9  that with these training programs that, ultimately,

         10  the bigger picture is that the promotional

         11  opportunities for our City workforce, maybe even the

         12  recruitment of people to become City workers, do you

         13  think these training programs help in that respect,

         14  both in promotion and in recruitment?

         15                 MS. MAYFIELD:  Are you asking me?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'm asking

         17  everyone.

         18                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  I

         19  think, yeah, I mean absolutely the more that people

         20  have a chance to be educated, the more it helps them

         21  able to advance and, again, people, there's, you

         22  know, we're a very popular part of our agency.

         23  Employees want to take advantage of the services

         24  that we offer.  We believe that a part of that is

         25  because they see a connection to their ability to
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          2  advance by participating in courses and getting new,

          3  and developing new skills.

          4                 MS. MAYFIELD:  I actually can add

          5  something to that because we are looking  --  up

          6  until now, the emphasis has really been on helping

          7  people to develop, further develop the skills they

          8  need in order to do the jobs that they have right

          9  now.  But, we are looking at setting up some kind of

         10  a program where individuals for promotional

         11  opportunities in, within the agency, that certain

         12  courses would be identified as, if you take these

         13  particular courses, then this will be put you in a,

         14  in line for this particular promotion.  So, we

         15  really are taking a look at that internally.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you.

         17  That is very promising and very helpful.  It is.

         18  You had mentioned in your testimony, Mr. Forte,

         19  that, you mentioned a fiscal year  '06 training

         20  programs.  My next question is on the line of the

         21  budget, you know, how much money does it take in the

         22  DCAS budget to do these training programs?  And, if

         23  we could break it down, you know, fiscal year  '06

         24  numbers you may have.  We just completed, obviously,

         25  fiscal year  '07 and maybe you can project in fiscal
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          2  year  '08?  If you could talk about the budgetary

          3  demands of these training programs.

          4                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  I

          5  don't have, I don't have the specific budget

          6  numbers, but, essentially, how we operate, is we

          7  operate on a cost sharing model with agencies. So,

          8  DCAS is providing certain resources centrally to

          9  support training on a City- wide basis.  Then, based

         10  on agency demands and requests, what individual

         11  agencies need, what they see as their challenges

         12  when they see that they want to offer or develop new

         13  programs, we work with them and share the costs to

         14  deliver that training.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Do you have any

         16  specifics as far as dollar amounts?  You know, are

         17  we talking millions of dollars, are we talking

         18  hundreds of thousands?  Do you have any idea about

         19  the programs?

         20                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  The

         21  exact budget numbers, we could get for you.  We know

         22  that what we're doing, by having a centralized

         23  resource, we know that we're offering the training

         24  in the most efficient and cost- effective manner

         25  possible.
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          2                 The costs, even in situations where

          3  we assess costs back to agencies, it's much less

          4  than what could be obtained in the commercial

          5  marketplace.  So, you know, while I don't have the

          6  specific numbers to give you right now, we know that

          7  we're much, we're very competitive and a much better

          8  deal than in, you know, anything on the commercial

          9  marketplace.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  The questions

         11  regarding the budget is a way of, in essence, to

         12  segway into my next question, which is, has the City

         13  Council helped?  You know, if you told us that these

         14  successful programs, these testing programs,

         15  required x amount of dollars, one way the City

         16  Council can help is maybe look at, you know, fiscal

         17  year  '08, as far as allocating certain dollars

         18  towards these programs.  That's why I think the

         19  dollars may be helpful for us.  But, are there other

         20  ways that Council Members can help in promoting

         21  these successful training programs?

         22                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  I

         23  think absolutely. I think in two different ways.  I

         24  think, number one, you have people in your

         25  constituencies who obviously are City employees, so
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          2  your being aware of it could be very, very useful.

          3                 Secondly, your own staff or maybe,

          4  you know, you, yourself or anybody on the Committee

          5  or anybody in the Council certainly to use us as a

          6  resource for, you know, to meet the training needs

          7  for yourselves and for you staff.

          8                 One area that comes to mind, I mean

          9  any area is fair game.  But, one area in particular,

         10  in the area of technology, where things change,

         11  where you were proficient in something last month,

         12  and now a software application has changed, you're

         13  no longer proficient in it, you know, there's such a

         14  need for ongoing training and we, we try to stay on

         15  top of it.

         16                 We have, you know, a wide range of

         17  course offerings.  Everything that we do, we try to

         18  gear it specifically to people who are working in a

         19  City government environment, so we really don't

         20  offer training that's off the shelf.  We try to

         21  focus it specifically for people who are facing the

         22  issues that people face in City government.  So, I

         23  think that those would be a couple of suggestions.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That is quite

         25  helpful.  I'm also going to make a request that if
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          2  you could forward to the district offices of the

          3  Council Members, either a brochure or some

          4  informational packet, if you have not done so, in

          5  the future, and I don't ever remember receiving one

          6   --

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  No, I

          8  don't think we have.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  --  But in a

         10  way that we can help you in our districts with

         11  regard to these training programs, if you could

         12  forward these informational packets, so that we

         13  could distribute them amongst the communities and

         14  areas in our district that we know may have a high

         15  population of City workers, that may help.

         16                 Again, I think these programs are as

         17  good as they are known of.  And, you know, if you do

         18  have a successful track record, we want to promote

         19  that.  So, and the way that we can help is getting

         20  it to our district.  If we can get some of the

         21  informational packets from DCAS sent to our office,

         22  we'd be more than happy to distribute them within

         23  our district.

         24                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  Okay,

         25  we  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  And while we

          3  have this panel here, if I could just, how long have

          4  you worked for the City? Just in number of years, if

          5  we can just go around the table.

          6                 MS. MAYFIELD:  22.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  22.

          8                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER FORTE:  I've

          9  been about ten.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Ten, okay.

         11                 MS. BROOKS:  20.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Nice.

         13                 MR. ALBRIGHT:  16.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Nice.  That's

         15  nice to see. Again, your enthusiasm about these

         16  training programs does help. To hear a

         17  representative from DCAS come by is grateful, and we

         18  are grateful, but to hear the actual City workers

         19  say that they've been through these programs and

         20  they have proven to be helpful in not only your

         21  current job, but maybe even the promotional aspect

         22  of it all, is very helpful to the Committee.

         23                 So, again, I appreciate your time and

         24  testimony. If there be any questions from my

         25  colleagues?  No.  I want to thank you very much for
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          2  being here today and for your time and testimony.

          3  Thank you and I look forward to working with you.

          4                 MS. MAYFIELD:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you.

          6  Have a good day. Our last panel and last speaker for

          7  this topic, I believe is Linda Jenkins from CWA

          8  Local 1180.  Is Ms. Jenkins here?  Ms. Jenkins,

          9  thank you for being here today.  If you could just

         10  give your full name and title affiliation and your

         11  testimony please.

         12                 MS. JENKINS:  Linda Jenkins, First

         13  Vice- President, CWA Local 1180.  Good afternoon.

         14  My name is Linda Jenkins and I'm First Vice-

         15  President of the Communication Workers of America,

         16  Local 1180, which represents more than 8,000 civil

         17  servants who work for the City and the Health and

         18  Hospitals Corporation.  I appreciate the opportunity

         19  to appear before you today.

         20                 The civil service system was meant to

         21  be the great leveler, a way to assure that

         22  corruption, cronyism, and the political spoils

         23  system would be replaced by hiring and promotion

         24  based on merit.  That vision has yet to be fully

         25  realized in New York City.
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          2                 My union, CWA Local 1180 represents

          3  workers in every agency of the City of New York, in

          4  the Housing Authority, the School Construction

          5  Authority, the Metropolitan Transportation Authority

          6  and the State of New York Unified Court System.  We

          7  represent promotional titles, such as Principal

          8  Administrative Associates, Legal Secretarial

          9  Assistants, Associate Call Center Representatives,

         10  Coordinating Managers and dozens more.

         11  Opportunities for training and advancement are

         12  critical, of critical importance to our members.

         13                 The City should recognize and reward

         14  educational advancement.  More than 20 years ago,

         15  CWA Local 1180 initiated an urban leadership program

         16  in conjunction with the City University of New York

         17  and what is now known as the Joseph S. Murphy

         18  Institute for Worker Education.

         19                 Through the union's Education Fund,

         20  we offer our members 24 credits of free tuition and

         21  $200.00 a semester in tuition assistance after that.

         22    Over the past 20 years, more than 400 of our

         23  members have graduated from the program with their

         24  Bachelor's Degree in Urban Studies or their Master's

         25  in Urban Affairs.  Yet, their new degrees and their
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          2  advanced knowledge of public administration,

          3  budgets, planning and social services have not

          4  translated into advancement on the job.

          5                 Our union worked out an important

          6  agreement last summer with the Department of

          7  Citywide Administrative Services that degrees in

          8  Urban Studies and Urban Affairs will now be formally

          9  listed as a qualifying degree in job specifications.

         10  But, much more needs to be done to support and

         11  reward this kind of educational attainment.

         12                 City agencies need to include the

         13  Urban Studies and Urban Affairs degrees as

         14  qualifying degrees in all their job postings with

         15  higher education requirements.  Civil servants who

         16  are seeking to earn their Bachelors or Master's

         17  while on the job should receive release time to

         18  attend daytime classes.  Civil servants who attain a

         19  Bachelor's or Master's while on the job should

         20  receive a salary increase, as school teachers do, or

         21  should be given extra consideration in assignment to

         22  higher levels.

         23                 City agencies should initiate skills

         24  education for their workers.  Local 1180 has a

         25  Workplace Literacy Program, through which we offer
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          2  our members free training and computer skills,

          3  including Excel, Outlook, Powerpoint and Desktop

          4  Publishing; supervisory skills, including time

          5  management, handling discipline and conducting

          6  meetings; and writing skills, including business

          7  writing.  The skills our members learn in these

          8  courses increase their effectiveness on the job and

          9  yet they have to use their free time during evenings

         10  and weekends to acquire these skills.

         11                 Since the mid- 1990's, CWA Local 1180

         12  has also initiated a few agency- specific skills

         13  training programs in close cooperation with agencies

         14  themselves.  During the 1990's, our union worked

         15  with the Department of Probation, the Department of

         16  Environmental Protection and the Fire Department to

         17  offer our members working at these agencies training

         18  and supervision and administration.

         19                 In 2006, we worked with the

         20  Comptroller's Office to offer our members working

         21  there computer skills training.  We are currently

         22  working with 3- 1- 1 on a skills assessment that

         23  will lead to a training program there, which will

         24  likely include courses in Excel and in business

         25  writing.  In each of these cases, these training

                                                            38

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  courses taught skills essential for the

          3  participant's day- to- day work and so the courses

          4  were offered during work hours.  But, such agency

          5  cooperation is rare and, in our experience, only

          6  occurs at the initiation of the union.

          7                 City agencies should initiate skills

          8  assessments of their workers and initiate training

          9  programs in cooperation with the relevant union to

         10  fill any skills gaps.  These classes should be

         11  offered during working hours.

         12                 The civil service titles that CWA

         13  Local 1180 represents are promotion titles, such as

         14  Principal Administrative Associate or PAA, which

         15  promotes from such titles as Clerical Associate.

         16  Our experience is that when civil servants are

         17  promoted into the titles we represent, they are

         18  hired at the minimum salary for their position.

         19  Meanwhile, provisionals, people hired to fill a

         20  competitive class title when there is no civil

         21  service list in existence, are brought into the same

         22  PA title all over the salary pay scale, depending on

         23  their work history, educational achievement and so

         24  on.  In effect, City agencies are penalizing civil

         25  servants who play by the rules of our exam- based
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          2  system.

          3                 We believe civil servants hired in

          4  promotional titles should be routinely hired at the,

          5  should not be routinely hired at the minimum salary

          6  for their title.  Educational achievement and work

          7  experience should be factors in determining starting

          8  salaries above the minimum for the title.

          9                 DCAS should offer promotional exams

         10  more frequently.  The Department of Citywide

         11  Administrative Services recently posted notice that

         12  it will offer the exam for Administrative Manager in

         13  June, 2007.  This is the promotional title for PAAs.

         14    It's been nearly a decade since that exam was last

         15  offered and that exam was offered more than ten

         16  years after the previous one.  Ten years is too long

         17  to wait for even a chance at a promotion.

         18                 Other administrative titles, such as

         19  Computer Operations Manager, a promotional title for

         20  a Computer Associate Technical Support are also

         21  rarely offered.  The infrequency of these exams

         22  means more provisional appointments and it means

         23  more frustration for people who are trying to follow

         24  the rules.

         25                 In addition, some agencies, such as
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          2  the Department of Finance and the Department of

          3  Environmental Protection and the Fire Department,

          4  rapidly deplete their promotional lists for common

          5  titles such as PAA, which opens the doors for

          6  proliferation of discretionary hirings.  Even though

          7  the PAA exam is offered more frequently than the

          8  Administrative Manager exam, typically every six or

          9  seven years, it is still not offered frequently

         10  enough to accommodate many agency needs.

         11                 Other promotional exams, such as

         12  Principal Administrative Associate, Administrative

         13  Manager and Computer Operations Manager should be

         14  offered on a more regular basis, at least once every

         15  four years.

         16                 The City should offer civil servants

         17  more career mobility.  Many civil servants work in

         18  agencies with rare opportunities for promotion or

         19  advancement.  When civil servants pass an exam for a

         20  promotional title, such as PAA, they are put on a

         21  list only for their agency.  In some agencies, these

         22  lists are a dead end.

         23                 For example, a PAA list for the Human

         24  Resources Administration was created in June 2004

         25  with 527 names.  A year later, only 69 people on
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          2  that list have been appointed.  A PAA list for the

          3  Police Department was created in June, 2004, with

          4  372 names on it.   A year later, only 23 people from

          5  that list had been appointed.  At this rate, this

          6  list will expire in June, 2008, with hundreds of

          7  people still waiting to be appointed. Meanwhile,

          8  other agencies exhaust their lists and are forced to

          9  hire provisionally.

         10                 Several years ago, the City created a

         11  City- wide promotional list, rather than an agency-

         12  by- agency list, which offered civil servants much

         13  greater opportunity for advancement. Rather than

         14  having to wait for an opening within their current

         15  agency, they could be considered for a promotional

         16  title in other agencies.  This offered civil

         17  servants in agency such as HRA and the Police

         18  Department, with few opportunities for promotion, an

         19  alternative route for advancing their careers.

         20                 Reinstate the City- wide promotional

         21  list.  Many civil servants in the Principal

         22  Administrative Associate title seek promotion to PAA

         23  Level Two or Level Three, but the criteria for

         24  advancing into these higher levels is extremely

         25  vague.  The City has not provided a road map for
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          2  advancement, whether it is to earn excellent job

          3  evaluations or to earn advanced educational degrees.

          4    As a result, when hires are made for a PAA Two or

          5  Three openings, many civil servants have the

          6  impression that these hires were made based on

          7  favoritism, not merit.

          8                 Create a specific road map with

          9  measurable markers for advancement from PAA Level

         10  One to Level Two or Level Three.

         11                 The City should take steps to end

         12  racial ghettoization in hiring.  CWA Local 1180

         13  represents civil servants at every single City

         14  agency and throughout the Health and Hospitals

         15  Corporation.  Our experience over many years is that

         16  certain agencies have become dumping grounds for

         17  people of color, while white civil servants seem to

         18  have a more diverse placement opportunities.

         19                 In particular, our experience is that

         20  African American women are placed disproportionately

         21  into jobs with the Human Resources Administration,

         22  which administers the City's Food Stamp and Job

         23  Opportunity Centers.  This pattern of placement

         24  happens at the entry level, but because promotional

         25  lists are agency- specific, these patterns persist
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          2  even in the promotional titles that CWA Local 1180

          3  represents.  This kind of racial ghettoization is

          4  exactly what the civil service system was designed

          5  to end.

          6                 We believe you should conduct a study

          7  into racial patterns of hiring in the City, agency

          8  by agency, and take whatever corrective measures in

          9  hiring and recruitment that are necessary based on

         10  the results of the study.

         11                 Finally, the Police Department should

         12  increase civilianization.  For many years, CWA Local

         13  1180 has advocated for further civilianization of

         14  the Police Department.  Further civilianization

         15  would save the City money and it would also give our

         16  members opportunities for job placement and

         17  advancement that they currently lack, as outlined

         18  above.

         19                 We recommend you increase the

         20  civilianization in the Police Department.  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you Ms.

         23  Jenkins.  I want to thank you for giving your

         24  testimony regarding your 8,000 civil servants and I

         25  appreciate that.
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          2                 I agree with you that in your

          3  testimony you said opportunities for training and

          4  advancement are of critical importance to your

          5  members.  I agree with you there.  I also appreciate

          6  the recommendations.  Many, often times, we identify

          7  the problem, but we don't find out ways to address

          8  or find solutions.  I do appreciate your

          9  recommendations and certainly I will incorporate

         10  them in my discussions and negotiations with DCAS.

         11  So, I do appreciate that and I do appreciate DCAS

         12  staying behind and listening to your testimony as

         13  well.

         14                 You mentioned an educational fund.  I

         15  was just curious, where does the funding come for

         16  that education fund?

         17                 MS. JENKINS:  That is collectively

         18  bargained. It's an amount that is provided, $25.00

         19  per employee per calendar year.  It's part of the

         20  Collective Bargaining Agreement that the City pays

         21  into our education fund.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Well, as I

         23  mentioned, you raised many issues that are of

         24  importance to you and your membership and I,

         25  hopefully, in the future, we can work on these
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          2  issues.  So, again, thank you for your time and

          3  testimony.  Any questions from my colleagues at this

          4  point?  No questions.  Thank you  --

          5                 MS. JENKINS:  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  --  Very much

          7  Ms. Jenkins. We will take a two minute recess just

          8  to make sure everybody is here.  Thank you very

          9  much.  We'll be back in two minutes.

         10                 (recess taken)

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you very

         12  much everyone for re- convening.  Just, as an order

         13  of business on part one of the Hearing regarding the

         14  training programs, DC- 37 was invited,

         15  unfortunately, they could not show, but they did

         16  give us written testimony that will be made part of

         17  the record.  So, we will certainly make that part of

         18  the record, the DC- 37 statement.

         19                 The second part of today's Civil

         20  Service and Labor Committee Hearing relates to

         21  Intro. 370, which would amend the Administrative

         22  Code in relation to the three platoon system of the

         23  Department of Correction and would allow the

         24  Department to assign personnel to actual tours of

         25  duty for management efficiency.  Intro. 370 would
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          2  also repeal an obsolete provision of the law, which

          3  was enacted in 1939, by not requiring the removal of

          4  the Commissioner for not using the rotating tours of

          5  duty.

          6                 The Department of Correction operates

          7  on a 24- hour basis and currently a three platoon

          8  system of equal groups in employed regardless of the

          9  level of need for the number of officers.  Intro.

         10  370 takes into account the different situations and

         11  needs during a 24- hour cycle, such that more

         12  officers would be available during the day and night

         13  tours, rather than when the inmates are asleep.

         14                 For the workers, steady tours would

         15  mean more reliable, structured schedules and greater

         16  accountability on steady posts, while decreasing the

         17  fatigue and confusion that many experience.  After

         18  testimony by the witnesses today, this Committee

         19  will take a vote on Intro. 370.

         20                 At this point, I'd like to welcome

         21  our first panel, we have Commissioner James Hanley

         22  from Office of Labor Relations.  Commissioner, good

         23  to see.  Commissioner Martin Horn from Department of

         24  Correction.  Thank you very gentlemen for being here

         25  today.  If you would please just state your name and

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  give your testimony, greatly appreciate it.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  James F.

          4  Hanley, h- a- n- l- e y.  I'm the Commissioner of

          5  Labor Relations for the City of New York.

          6                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  Martin Horn,

          7  Commissioner of Correction for the City of New York.

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Thank you.  We

          9  are pleased to appear  --  wait  --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Go ahead,

         11  you're fine.

         12                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  I thought it

         13  was on.  We are pleased to appear before you today

         14  in support of Intro. 370, which is a bill resulting

         15  from the previously concluded collective bargaining

         16  negotiations between my office, the Office of Labor

         17  Relations and the Correction Officers Benevolent

         18  Association.  If passed, Intro. 370 would amend

         19  Subdivision c, Section 9- 116 of the Administrative

         20  Code, known as the Rotation Law, thereby allowing

         21  the Correction Department to assign a larger

         22  proportion of its uniformed personnel to steady

         23  tours of duty and in a more staff- efficient manner.

         24                 It would also repeal subdivision e of

         25  the same Section, eliminating an archaic provision
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          2  of law that requires the Correction Department

          3  Commissioner to institute a lock- step system of

          4  rotating tours of duty or face punishment for not

          5  doing so.

          6                 The Department of Correction operates

          7  24 hours a day, seven days a week throughout the

          8  year.  Administrative Code, Section 9- 116 of the

          9  City of New York, requires the Department to

         10  maintain a three platoon system for correction

         11  officers, whereby members of the custodial staff

         12  divided into equal groups, rotate throughout the

         13  night, evening and day tours of duty.

         14                 The system, which is called the

         15  wheel, assigns officers to tours of duty that change

         16  weekly from one part of the 24- hour schedule to

         17  another.  Section 9- 116 was enacted in 1939 and was

         18  originally intended as a means of fairly

         19  distributing the 24- hour schedule among employees.

         20                 In staffing the continual operation,

         21  the Rotation Law presently requires the Department

         22  to assign officers, with limited exceptions, on a

         23  constantly rotating schedule to staff each of these

         24  three tours.  Many of the officers would prefer to

         25  be assigned to the same tour of duty on a steady
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          2  basis to provide continuity in their daily lives,

          3  accommodate family requirements or facilitate

          4  attending social aspects of their lives.  However, a

          5  greater number of DOC staff is precluded from

          6  working steady tours due to the built- in limitation

          7  of the Rotation Law in its current form.

          8                 Ever since its enactment, another

          9  major criticism of the law has focused on the

         10  inherent lack of efficiency in mandating an

         11  inflexible division into three equal parts of a

         12  workforce that is needed in different proportions

         13  throughout the 24- hour day cycle.  It remains true

         14  today, as it was then, that more officers are needed

         15  on the day and evening tours than on the midnight

         16  tour, when the inmates are settled in for the night.

         17                 In light of this, it would be more

         18  reasonable and efficient to give more discretion to

         19  the Commissioner and/or individual wardens to

         20  determine scheduling based on actual need.

         21                 The convergence, this convergence of

         22  the interests of labor and management has manifested

         23  itself in a newly ratified union contract with the

         24  Correction Officers Benevolent Association and in

         25  the bill that is before you today, which
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          2  contemplates wider use of the concept of unit

          3  management of correctional facilities.  Unit

          4  management assumes that correction officers will

          5  generally be assigned to steady tours, as well as

          6  steady posts, whereby allowing for greater

          7  efficiency and accountability at all levels of

          8  operation.

          9                 To expand the opportunity for

         10  assignment of officers to steady tours, which is

         11  largely incompatible with the current system of

         12  rotating tours, the COBA has agreed to bargaining,

         13  in bargaining to support the City in seeking the

         14  necessary amendments to Section 9- 116.

         15                 Enacting this bill would alleviate

         16  the built- in limitation on the assignment of

         17  correction officers to steady tours.  The bill would

         18  also eliminate all unnecessary draconian

         19  subdivisions that it provide for forfeiture of

         20  office and criminal liability for a commissioner or

         21  other manager who violates the anachronistic

         22  provisions of Section 9- 116.

         23                 Lastly, it is important to note,

         24  again, that this was a voluntary agreement that was

         25  negotiated at the bargaining table between the City
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          2  and the COBA and this legislation is necessary in

          3  order to implement what was agreed to by the

          4  parties.  It is also important to note that the

          5  savings associated with this proposed amendment have

          6  already been applied to the COBA contract settlement

          7  and was, which was recently ratified by the union.

          8                 Therefore, under the terms of this

          9  Memorandum of Agreement entered into between the

         10  City and the COBA, if this proposed bill is not

         11  enacted, the parties would be required to re- open

         12  negotiations.  Neither party wishes that to happen.

         13  Instead, both would urge that the proposed bill be

         14  enacted as soon as possible, since it was, it was

         15  the negotiated result of the collective bargaining

         16  process.  Thank you for your time.

         17                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  No statement.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  No statement,

         19  Commissioner? Okay.  Before I get to any questions

         20  from my colleagues, just a couple of questions that

         21  I may have.  Again, I thank you for your time here

         22  today.  How many employees will be affected by this

         23  new piece of legislation in the way they are or the

         24  way they will be delegated to their duties?  How

         25  many employees are we speaking of?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Several

          3  thousand.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Any more

          5  accurate number than that, Commissioner?

          6                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  It's probably

          7  about eight, nine thousand.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I know it's

          9  part of a negotiated deal with the union, but are we

         10  also looking at something that has outgrown its

         11  usefulness in the wheel, that kind of rotation?

         12  Again, a law that was enacted in 1939, since then,

         13  I'm sure, situations have changed, circumstances

         14  have changed.  Are we looking at just, again, more

         15  appropriately allocating our personnel and our

         16  resources in the City and something that has been

         17  outgrown its usefulness?

         18                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  The

         19  Commissioner can answer better than I, but the

         20  answer is, of course, is absolutely.

         21                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  Absolutely.  This

         22  law really didn't make sense and I think you even

         23  stated in your opening remarks, when it was passed

         24  in 1939, on the night shift, 11 to seven, the

         25  inmates are locked in or in their dorms.  They're
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          2  not going to activities, they're not out and about.

          3  You just don't need that many officers.  There's no,

          4  there's no visiting going on.

          5                 It puts a total cap on the total

          6  number of officers, the percentage of the total

          7  workforce that doesn't have to be on the wheel.

          8  It's just impossible to operate in any kind of

          9  efficient manner and has never been able to operate

         10  in an efficient manner as a result of this law.

         11                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  There's not an

         12  even distribution of the work load or the calls to

         13  service throughout the 24- hour day.  It varies

         14  considerably and this would more closely address

         15  that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  So, this would

         17  be more flexible to the needs that determine or the

         18  conditions that determine the greater number of

         19  personnel needed at a particular time.

         20                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  Exactly.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  How would we

         22  determine which personnel gets the certain shifts?

         23  Is it based on seniority?  Is it based on

         24  qualifications?  How would we determine which

         25  officers, what personnel gets the certain shifts?

                                                            54

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  It's primarily by

          3  seniority.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Seniority.  Do

          5  you see this as helping retain and recruit possibly,

          6  currently and in the future this new form of

          7  allocating our personnel?  Do you see it as a  --

          8                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  It would

          9  certainly help, absolutely.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Have you heard

         11  of any criticisms of this new allocation of

         12  resources, personnel?

         13                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Not that I know

         14  of, no.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Could

         16  you say that or what would be your answer if I would

         17  say could custodian employees, which are listed in

         18  the legislation, could custodian employees include

         19  captains and other administrative titles?

         20                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  It could?

         22                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Sure.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Any

         24  other questions colleagues?  Again, I want to thank

         25  you very much for your time and testimony today.
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          2  Thank you very much.

          3                 COMMISSIONER HANLEY:  Thank you.

          4                 COMMISSIONER HORN:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Our next panel

          6  is Norman Seabrook, Correction Officers Benevolent

          7  Association.  Mr. Seabrook, thank you for being with

          8  us today.

          9                 MR. SEABROOK:  Thank you sir.  How

         10  are you?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Please give

         12  your testimony. I'm doing fine.

         13                 MR. SEABROOK:  Everyone.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Please give

         15  your testimony.

         16                 MR. SEABROOK:  Thank you.  Good

         17  afternoon.  My name is Norman Seabrook.  I am the

         18  President of the Correction Officers Benevolent

         19  Association, the second largest uniformed force in

         20  the City of New York.  I would like to take this

         21  opportunity to thank you for holding this very

         22  important Hearing.

         23                 I am here today to strongly urge the

         24  New York City Council to amend the City of New

         25  York's Administrative Code in relation to the three
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          2  platoon system currently governing the Department of

          3  Corrections' uniformed workforce.  Into. Number 370

          4  will provide stability in the lives of the

          5  correction officers and their families.

          6                 As many, as you may or may not know,

          7  the current municipal law was enacted nearly 70

          8  years ago, creating a work schedule in which most

          9  New York, most new correction officers were mandated

         10  to work rotating shifts for eight hours and 31

         11  minutes, often changing from night to day tours

         12  after each week.

         13                 The majority of officers had to

         14  request transfers in an attempt to apply for a

         15  steady shift, enabling them to maintain some

         16  resemblance of normalcy in their lives.  However,

         17  for a number of officers, their entire careers are

         18  spent working rotating shifts known as the wheel.

         19  These officers cannot establish stability in their

         20  lives.  It prevents them from doing some of the

         21  basic things that you, as City Council Members, are

         22  allowed to do, such as schedule medical

         23  appointments, teacher conferences with your children

         24  and other basic personal appointments that are a

         25  necessity to every day life.
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          2                 The bottom line is that working the

          3  wheel is very stressful, physically draining and

          4  antiquated.  Although it has not yet been proven, I

          5  strongly suspect that it's detrimental to the health

          6  of correction officers.

          7                 After 20 years of service on behalf

          8  of the Department of Correction, the average life

          9  expectancy of a correction officer is about 15

         10  years.  For these reasons, it is imperative that the

         11  correction officers are afforded the opportunity to

         12  work in an environment that allows them to meet the

         13  challenging demands of the modern day life in the

         14  21st century.

         15                 Imagine for a moment what your lives

         16  would be like if each week you worked a different

         17  schedule or rotating schedule, creating an adverse

         18  effect on your sleep patterns and your ability to

         19  care for your loved ones.  Imagine what it would be

         20  like if you were a single parent.  Imagine if you

         21  had children who had serious medical conditions that

         22  require constant attention, compounded by mandatory

         23  overtime during certain times of the year.  Imagine

         24  that you are ordered to work 17 hours a day,

         25  sometimes three or even four days in a row.
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          2                 For many of our correction officers,

          3  that, that, excuse me, for many of our correction

          4  officers, they don't even have to imagine these

          5  possibilities, for them it is a reality. It is

          6  because of the reality that the vast majority of

          7  correction officers support this much needed

          8  legislation.

          9                 I, as a union leader, am not

         10  concerned with the opinions of other labor leaders

         11  regarding the members of this organization.  The

         12  Executive Board and I have accomplished and,

         13  accomplished results that have benefited every

         14  single uniformed member of this agency.  There were

         15  no objections, conversations or ridicule for any

         16  benefits that were achieved on behalf of all

         17  uniformed members of this agency.  Billy Kwasnicki,

         18  Steve Robinson, Robert Seabrook, Elias Husamudeen,

         19  Joey Bracco, Allen Blake, Liz Castro, Chandra

         20  LaSonde, Tommy Farrell, Israel Rexach and I have

         21  worked diligently around the clock to enhance this

         22  organization, and for that I want to thank them.

         23                 I also would like to thank the Mayor,

         24  Michael Bloomberg, Commissioner Hanley and

         25  Commissioner Horn for recognizing the need to revise
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          2  this stone- age work schedule that has been a

          3  detriment to the lives of the men and women not only

          4  who responded to the worst terrorist attack on

          5  America, but have also responded to natural

          6  disasters in the Gulf Coast and around the regions

          7  of the world.

          8                 In closing, I would like to thank, I

          9  would ask the Council to join in supporting this

         10  measure that puts stability and continuity in the

         11  lives of the best, the boldest correction officers

         12  in the world.

         13                 I would also like to make mention

         14  that correction captains, correction assistant

         15  deputy wardens, wardens, deputy wardens and chiefs

         16  were all correction officers before they got

         17  promoted and they did not like the wheel.  The wheel

         18  is something that is antiquated.  It is something

         19  that is troubling in a person's life.

         20                 Me, as a labor leader, I have the

         21  privilege and the honor to work a regular day, nine

         22  to five, if I have to.  Or, if I get called in the

         23  middle of the night, I go out, 24 hours a day, but I

         24  do that for the members, because that's the job that

         25  I was sworn to take in the oath of office that I
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          2  took.  But, as a labor leader, it is incumbent upon

          3  me to ensure that the men and women that serve this

          4  City and serve this City well, can be best served in

          5  serving this City if they have stability in their

          6  lives.

          7                 There is no reason why a correction

          8  officer must work three to 11s, 11 to seven, seven

          9  to three or one to nine or five to one or two to ten

         10  or any other schedule that deems appropriate.  I

         11  think that the Commissioner and the, the

         12  Commissioner of Labor Relations, the Commissioner of

         13  the Department of Correction might have made a

         14  slight mistake when they said that it would affect

         15  eight, nine thousand people.  No, because a lot of

         16  our members are already on steady tours, seven to

         17  threes or three to 11s or midnights.  We're just

         18  taking the remainder that don't have stability in

         19  their lives and putting them in a place.  So, yes,

         20  they're right, it affects the entire agency, but to

         21  actually put a person in a position where they're

         22  going to work a steady tour, I think it would be

         23  great.

         24                 Then, I'm going to ask them later on,

         25  why don't we have them all work five days a week and
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          2  off two days a week.  So, we'll go from there.  So,

          3  in closing, I'd just like to thank the Council in

          4  supporting this measure, this measure in stability

          5  and thank you for your time.  I'd be happy to answer

          6  any questions that any of you may have.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you Mr.

          8  Seabrook. Before I get do get to questions from

          9  others, specifically, how many workers will be

         10  directly affected by this change?

         11                 MR. SEABROOK:  I, I want to estimate

         12  that probably about half.  The reason why I say half

         13  is because if you look at the current administrative

         14  schedules in the facilities, there are people that

         15  are already working steady days, seven to threes or

         16  three to elevens or eleven to seven.  So, those

         17  people are already locked into stability in their

         18  lives.

         19                 It's the ones that have to work the

         20  wheel to balance it out that will be affected by

         21  this.  I want to say it's probably about half of the

         22  membership.  But, at the same time, let me add that

         23  a single parent that has a child at home with asthma

         24  and that parent has to leave that home at night at

         25  10:00 to be to Rikers Island at 11:00, so that she
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          2  or he could do an eleven to seven tour, that's

          3  really dangerous, because now this parent is saying,

          4  I'm not going to work because I'm going to get stuck

          5  tomorrow morning on overtime.  So, if I'm going to

          6  get stuck tomorrow morning, that means I'm out of my

          7  home 16 hours with a child that has asthma or cancer

          8  or some other disease or illness that is going to

          9  affect them and they're not coming to work.

         10                 So, what that's going to do is that's

         11  going to take that person and then push up the

         12  overtime rate for the officer that wants to go home.

         13    I'm not interested in whether the City spends

         14  money on overtime or not.  I don't care.  What I

         15  care about is my brother or sister officer going

         16  home in the middle of the night or going home in the

         17  morning, when they're supposed to go take care of

         18  their family.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  So, again,

         20  we're talking about roughly 4,500  --

         21                 MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct sir.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  --  To an

         23  extent and their families, obviously.

         24                 MR. SEABROOK:  Oh, yes sir.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  In your
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          2  opinion, this is, again, going to affect the safety

          3  of those officers, the morale.  Can you expand on

          4  what it means to the individual worker who is going

          5  to be affected by this piece of legislation as far

          6  as improvements in the workplace?

          7                 MR. SEABROOK:  I think that what it's

          8  going to do first is it's going to allow the

          9  individual to take a step back and go, whew,

         10  stability, I can now plan my life.  I can now say,

         11  next week, I can make that doctor's appointment, to

         12  ensure that I don't have a disease or something.

         13                 Now, the supervisor is going to work

         14  more closely with a person that he or she is going

         15  to supervise on a continuous basis and get the

         16  opportunity to get to know that person.  We work

         17  with some of the most dangerous individuals in

         18  society, yet we work with each other more than we

         19  see our own family and we don't even know each

         20  other.  Everything is last names.  We don't know

         21  each other by first names because we have this

         22  mentality that we've taken on.  Some people have

         23  taken on the identity of some of the people that

         24  we're paid to supervised.               So, what

         25  this is going to do is it's going to allow for more
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          2  correction officers and their families and

          3  supervisors to come together and combat a problem in

          4  the City's jail system that has, we've been lacking

          5  for some years, and that's accountability.  Ensuring

          6  that if you're assigned to work a certain housing

          7  area and that is the officer that that particular

          8  inmate, who although is a murderer or accused of

          9  murder is going to see every day, that inmate is now

         10  going to change his or her attitude because that's

         11  the person that they are going to see every day and

         12  that person's program is going to be set forth.

         13                 So, in doing that, what you're doing

         14  is you're bringing the officer a better stability in

         15  their life, you're bringing better stability in the

         16  supervisor's life, you're bringing better stability

         17  into the people that we're paid to supervise life.

         18                 I'm not an advocate for inmates, but

         19  they're human beings and I have no problem with them

         20  being a human being.  I didn't put you there.  Our

         21  job is care, custody and control to ensure that you

         22  show up to court when you're supposed to.  At that

         23  point, the judge decides what he wants to do with

         24  you, that's not our problem.  Our problem is to

         25  treat you like a human being while you're there.
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          2                 Now, I'm not advocating for what a

          3  supervisor should do or what the unions should do

          4  for their members.  But, what I am advocating for is

          5  that stability goes into a person's life.  There is

          6  no way that you're going to tell me that you would

          7  rather work five different shifts in two months.

          8  There's no way you want to do that.

          9                 Now, what I'm hoping for is that the

         10  Council votes and passes this legislation, so that

         11  we can get to where we're supposed to be.

         12                 Councilman, with all due respect, you

         13  are an incredible Council Member, you really are.

         14  But, if you had to come to work tonight at 11:00,

         15  then they told you had to stay from seven to three,

         16  then you had to go home and be back again at 11:00,

         17  then they told you, we don't want you to come in at

         18  11, we want you to come in at 5:00 a.m. instead and

         19  they told you we, instead of you getting off at one,

         20  we want you to stay until nine.  Then, you don't

         21  stay until nine, you skip out and your wife calls

         22  and says, and may I, with all due respect, Joe, the

         23  baby's sick and you turn around and go, Cap, I need

         24  to go.  The captain turns around and says, well

         25  you're stuck, I have nobody that's going to work for
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          2  you.

          3                 With all due respect to the Council

          4  and to everybody else, you know what that is.  I

          5  don't even have to say the words, you know what it

          6  is.  We have to put stability in people's lives.  We

          7  have to take that 1939 antiquated piece of

          8  legislation that was established when the Correction

          9  Department had 55 people in it, okay, and do

         10  something with it.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Council

         12  Member Melissa Mark Viverito.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  Well,

         14  thank you for your testimony.  I think you've, you

         15  know, you really broke it down and kind of really at

         16  least made me, fully understand the implications

         17  here.  So, thanks for that.

         18                 I just wanted to understand, you

         19  mentioned that it would impact half of the workforce

         20  or your members  --

         21                 MR. SEABROOK:  Yes, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  --  So

         23  you're saying that there are some that have steady

         24  tours, I guess, or -

         25                 MR. SEABROOK:  That's correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  --

          3  Steady shifts. How does, why does one group have a

          4  steady shift versus others that don't?  Is it

          5  different job responsibilities or?

          6                 MR. SEABROOK:  Every job

          7  responsibility is different, whether it be working

          8  in a housing area, working in an administrative

          9  area, working in a security area.  Each area has a

         10  certain amount of responsibility.  We get what's

         11  called a Table of Organization from the Department

         12  of Corrections in a manning and staffing schedule

         13  that tells us how many inmates, how many correction

         14  officers does it take to work this area.

         15                 So, for example, if all of your are

         16  Council Members and you had an administrative area,

         17  you were the deputy warden of administration.  You

         18  are allowed to have two or three correction officers

         19  work for you, so that the work that is delegated

         20  from the top and it goes, shuffles out, you would

         21  have your staff members do that for you.  So, you

         22  are entitled to have staff members.  So, you may

         23  have five staff members, another dep. May have ten

         24  staff members, a warden may have five staff members,

         25  the commissioner may have six staff members and
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          2  those are people that are on steady tours already.

          3  Then, you have individuals that work in the housing

          4  areas, with the inmates themselves  --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  So,

          6  the administrative primarily would be more of a

          7  steady shift as opposed to those that work with the

          8  inmates and the incarcerated, correct?

          9                 MR. SEABROOK:  Well, I don't want to

         10  say yes.  I want to say it's balanced  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  Okay.

         12                 MR. SEABROOK:  --  Because at the

         13  point that, believe it or not, there are more people

         14  that work in steady assignments than they are that

         15  work with administrative, deputy wardens, et cetera,

         16  et cetera.

         17                 Now, what that does is that has

         18  everyone locked into a steady tour.  Will there be

         19  some people left on the wheel? Of course there will

         20  be.  There will be some people who do not want to

         21  work a steady tour whatsoever and we've accommodated

         22  that and Commissioner Hanley has agreed to that,

         23  Commissioner Horn has agreed to that.  Listen, they

         24  don't want to go on the wheel, I'm not going to

         25  force them to go on the wheel, but what you're going
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          2  to do is you're going to be able to put stability in

          3  everybody else's life.

          4                 Now, the person that doesn't work the

          5  wheel, that's the person, believe it or not, that's

          6  going to fill in when joe blow calls in sick and

          7  says, you know what, I'm not coming in today.  That

          8  person that's on the wheel is going float into that

          9  post  --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  Right.

         11                 MR. SEABROOK:  --  But, wouldn't you

         12  rather go into an area that's steady?  It's like

         13  going home.  If you go home tonight and someone has

         14  moved your television, moved your bed, moved your

         15  countertop and you put it back and three days later,

         16  you come back, it's been moved again.  But, if that

         17  was your steady, which is your home, then you know

         18  where you left your television.

         19                 It's the same thing with a correction

         20  officer.  If everyday I go home and I'm coming back

         21  tomorrow and for the next four days and for every

         22  day that you are locked up you're going to see me,

         23  things are going to be exactly where they're

         24  supposed to be and I'm going to have less violence.

         25  I'm going to have less attacks on my correction
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          2  officers.

          3                 The reason why I'm going to have less

          4  attacks is because they're going to know the officer

          5  that is giving them instructions on a daily basis on

          6  what to do.  And, even when they're off- duty, two

          7  days later, those inmates are very sharp, two days

          8  later, the inmate is going to sit down and he's

          9  going to go, Seabrook is coming back to work

         10  tomorrow guys, so let's get the house together.  So,

         11  when I walk in there, they're going to know, it's

         12  back to business, basic business the way it's

         13  supposed to be done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  Okay,

         15  thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

         17  Council Member. What does this mean for recruitment

         18  and retainment?

         19                 MR. SEABROOK:  I think it means a lot

         20  because I think that a person deciding to become a

         21  correction officer, whether it be male or female,

         22  sitting at home, his or her partner or domestic

         23  partner or significant other, it doesn't matter, and

         24  they're sitting there and they're going, wait a

         25  minute, you're going to leave a nine to five, making
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          2  $10,000.00 less to take a job to make $10,000.00

          3  more, but you're going to work this wheel?

          4  Christmas, New Year's, you gotta (sic) work those

          5  holidays, I understand, but you're going to work a

          6  wheel?

          7                 So, you know what, we're losing

          8  people who say, you know what, I really don't want

          9  to work the wheel.  I really don't want to go in

         10  three to 11, then seven to three, then 11 to seven,

         11  I'm getting two and a half days off.  It gets to the

         12  point where they don't even know when they're off.

         13  They've to keep a little schedule and go like this,

         14  what am I, I've got to look at the schedule, when do

         15  I come back to work, oh I come back 11 to seven.

         16  Oh, they changed it from 11 to seven, I'm sorry, I

         17  come back at five to one, or I came in early.  I'm

         18  five hours early, I was supposed to be, you know,

         19  coming in at a different time, you know.

         20                 It puts definite retention and keeps

         21  us going, therefore, and it allows, I want to say

         22  the men and women that are sitting at home that's

         23  waiting for their, their loved one to come home,

         24  knows, listen, this is the schedule that they're

         25  working, this is going to put stability in their
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          2  lives and I think that it does a lot when you

          3  present that to the public if they want to become a

          4  New York City Correction Officer, to say that you

          5  can come right from the academy and work a steady

          6  tour. Wherever we have an opening at, we're going to

          7  put you there.

          8                 I'm not saying that you're going to

          9  have a job that you're going to be driving a vehicle

         10  around all day long or you're going to be working

         11  for the Commissioner, but there will be a job there

         12  for you where you can work and have some stability

         13  in your life.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  How many

         15  facilities are we speaking of here?  How many

         16  employees, well, not how many employees, the

         17  employees in how many facilities will be affected.

         18  How many facilities?

         19                 MR. SEABROOK:  Every facility will be

         20  affected.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  How many?

         22                 MR. SEABROOK:  I want to say, we're

         23  probably going to go with probably about nine that's

         24  going to be solidly affected by the changes in this.

         25    But, it's not going to be that much of a change
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          2  because if you look at the schedules, and I wish I

          3  would have brought a copy of the schedule with me,

          4  so that you could see how many people are on steady

          5  tours, are on steady posts.  All we're going to do,

          6  well, not me, all the Commissioner is going to do is

          7  he's going to enhance what's there already and put

          8  more stability in those areas.

          9                 Now, what does that do?  I think that

         10  that also helps with the response time in case of

         11  emergency, okay.  You know who you got, you know who

         12  you're working with.  You know who can do what.

         13  People could be trained.

         14                 If the Department of Corrections

         15  testified before you and said, you know what, I'm

         16  going to train everybody in the Department of

         17  Correction in, let's say, I forgot the name of the

         18  new heart machine that we have in the facility, the

         19  defibrillator.  If we had the defibrillator and I

         20  want to train everybody in it, people are going all

         21  over the place all over the wheel.  You don't know

         22  who's trained in it.  But, when you know I trained

         23  my entire seven to three tour in it, then you know,

         24  God forbid, one of us has a heart attack, we know

         25  that anybody in that area is capable of doing it.
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          2  We're not, no longer scrambling to say, who am I

          3  working with, did I train Joe today? Was Bobby

          4  trained? Or whatever the case may be.

          5                 So, it does a lot of things, you

          6  know.  It does things for the correction officer.

          7  You know what? At the end of the day, Councilman, I

          8  don't care whether or not the City says, you know

          9  what, we've got to have this.  It's a reality that,

         10  you know what, it affects people's lives every day.

         11                 There is a woman sitting at home,

         12  right now, as we speak, saying should I get up to go

         13  to work for my 3:00 tour and risk the chance of me

         14  not getting off at 11:00 because somebody else is

         15  not going to show up.  My kid is coming home at 3:30

         16  and I know my kid has a bad asthma problem and today

         17  is a cold day. You know what? I'm not going to work,

         18  I'm just going to bang in.

         19                 So, now, they're not going to work

         20  because there is no stability.  When you add the

         21  stability, it gives the opportunity for another

         22  officer to say, you know what, I'll work your shift

         23  for your tonight.  I'll do an emergency mutual with

         24  you.  I'll switch tours.  I'll work for you tonight,

         25  knowing full well that that officer could do it
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          2  again tomorrow because there's no confusion in their

          3  lives anymore.  It's stability.

          4                 So, I ask the Council, please,

          5  consider this.  I know that there may be some

          6  objections to it, but, you know what, they object to

          7  a lot of things in life.  There was no objections

          8  when I got the heart bill, three- quarter bill,

          9  variable supplement bill, buy- back bill, re- open a

         10  bill.  I could go on and on and on.  There's no

         11  objections to that stuff.  There's objection to put

         12  stability.

         13                 You know what? And there's a chief

         14  out there, a deputy chief, an assistant chief, a

         15  captain, a deputy warden, there were all on the

         16  wheel and they hated it.  They dealt with it because

         17  nobody had the foresight to say, let's deal with it.

         18  So, you know what, the COBA Executive Board and I,

         19  we're dealing with it and we're going to go from

         20  there.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, Mr.

         22  Seabrook, there being no other questions, thank you

         23  very much for your  --

         24                 MR. SEABROOK:  Hello Larry.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Mr. Seabrook
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          2  has, Council Member Seabrook has returned, yes.

          3                 MR. SEABROOK:  Thank you, thank you

          4  so much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you Mr.

          6  Seabrook, yes. Thank you very much.  Our next panel

          7  Peter Meringolo, the Correction Captains Association

          8  and Harry Greenberg.  I want to thank this panel for

          9  being here today.  Just please state your name and

         10  give your testimony please.

         11                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Yes, good afternoon

         12  Councilman Addabbo.  My name is Peter D. Meringolo,

         13  President of the New York City Correction Captains

         14  Association.

         15                 MR. GREENBERG:  And my name is Harry

         16  Greenberg, Counsel to the CCA.

         17                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Okay.  My name is

         18  Peter D. Meringolo, President of the Correction

         19  Captains Association, Incorporated, which I will

         20  refer to as the CCA.  I represent approximately 900

         21  correction captains currently employed by the New

         22  York Department of Correction.  I wish to thank the

         23  Committee on Civil Service and Labor for the

         24  opportunity to testify regarding Intro. 370, the

         25  amendment to Section 9- 116 of the New York City
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          2  Administrative Code covering the Department of

          3  Correction.

          4                 My testimony today has to do solely

          5  and strictly with protecting my members' rights.  I

          6  have never made my disagreements on this matter

          7  personal.  Section 9- 116 is commonly referred to as

          8  the Rotation Law.  In pertinent part, the Rotation

          9  Law provides for the custodial staff of the

         10  Department of Correction to be divided up between

         11  the three platoon system to manage the care, custody

         12  and control of the inmates 24 hours each day.

         13                 The amendment to the Rotation Law

         14  covers custodial officers.  I do not believe anyone

         15  will disagree that correction officers, correction

         16  captains, assistant deputy wardens, wardens, among

         17  others, fall within the meaning of the term

         18  custodial officer, as this term is referred to in

         19  Section 9- 116. Therefore, my members will be

         20  affected by the amendment to the Rotation Law.

         21  Recently, I had a meeting with Commissioner Horn,

         22  during which he confirmed that correction captains

         23  are covered within the meaning of custodial

         24  officers.

         25                 The City's memorandum in support of
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          2  Intro. 370, in pertinent part, states: The union

          3  representing correction officers has agreed to

          4  support the City in seeking necessary amendments to

          5  Section 9- 116.  It is my understanding that part of

          6  the most recent collective bargaining agreement

          7  between the City and the Correction Officers

          8  Benevolent Association, COBA, involves a provision

          9  on unit management and is the basis for COBA's

         10  support of Intro. 370.

         11                 The CCA, the union I represent, most

         12  recent collective bargaining agreement does not have

         13  a unit management provision.  I would like you to

         14  know that the City never informed the CCA that it

         15  was amending the Rotation Law, even though

         16  Commissioner Horn told me that it will affect my

         17  members.

         18                 I was made aware that Intro. 370

         19  existed quite by accident.  It is kind of

         20  disheartening after being a union president for 16

         21  years to find out that there's discussions going on

         22  that's going to affect the lives of so many men and

         23  women that I've been elected to represent and I

         24  don't even know the bill is there, as others did.  I

         25  explained this to City Council staff members and
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          2  asked that I be given an opportunity to explain my

          3  position.

          4                 I would like to begin by informing

          5  the Committee that I am not against steady tours.  I

          6  worked inside the jails for 18 years as a correction

          7  officer and correction captain.  I headed the

          8  emergency response team and personally responded to

          9  two riot situations in this agency and have been

         10  decorated twice for valor.  So, I'm fully aware of

         11  what a correction officer of all titles goes

         12  through.

         13                 I am not against implementation of

         14  any law that effectuates a provision of another

         15  union's contract.  I am certainly not against

         16  removing the provision that the correction

         17  commissioner or other manager who violates Section

         18  9- 116 will forfeit their position and be criminal

         19  (sic) liable.

         20                 I am against supporting a law that

         21  covers my members, which depending on how the law is

         22  interpreted and applied may or will have an effect

         23  on my members, the CCA Collective Bargaining

         24  Agreement, arbitration awards, other memorandum of

         25  understanding and/or stipulation of settlements and
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          2  unilaterally changes in what is referred to as

          3  mandatory subjects of bargaining.

          4                 It's important to note here, my union

          5  won two very important arbitration cases that, in

          6  effect, stopped the agency from closing security

          7  posts that, in effect, would jeopardize the very

          8  safety that we talk about they want to protect.  I

          9  fought long and hard for those positions.

         10                 In essence, what that arbitration

         11  case did, the Whittenberg (phonetic) agreement is,

         12  and I'm the only union in the City, of the three,

         13  that has this award.  So, I think it's clear that

         14  the Council understands my objection is when you

         15  fight hard for a very important safety issue, you

         16  want to make sure that award that the members endear

         17  is protected.

         18                 That award basically stops the agency

         19  from, at will, closing posts in their opinion,

         20  management's discretion. In other words, if a post,

         21  if an area calls for 12 captains, they want to say

         22  we could do it with eight.  In my opinion and having

         23  worked the jails, more so than most of the people

         24  that are making these decisions, that is

         25  jeopardizing safety.

                                                            81

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 So, one of the main objectives to

          3  this bill was that I was not brought in, is going to

          4  affect my members, what I needed the assurances on

          5  is that my Whittenberg agreement arbitration

          6  decision would not be violated.

          7                 Again, having been the only, still

          8  being the only union in the Department of Correction

          9  that has that, what it amounts to, Councilman, is

         10  they cannot cut my captains' posts, to save their

         11  overtime and jeopardize their safety.  So, I think,

         12  coming from a union leader who has had 34 years in

         13  the New York City Department of Correction, I think

         14  my concerns are pretty obvious for the safety and

         15  well- being.

         16                 Stability?  Half my members right now

         17  are on steady tours.  I am concerned about the way

         18  they do implement and give out steady tours.  I know

         19  what the director says, but I also know what is

         20  actually implemented.

         21                 The City's memorandum in support

         22  states that this law was enacted in 1939.  All of

         23  sudden, in 2006, 67 years after this local law was

         24  enacted, the City has taken the position that this

         25  change in the Administrative Code must happen now
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          2  and without notifying my union.

          3                 This begs the question, what is the

          4  rush?  My union, at the very least, should have been

          5  notified there was going to be a change and we

          6  should have had meetings to resolve our differences.

          7    Unfortunately, this did not happen, which you

          8  should also note is that the City and the

          9  Commissioner of Labor Relations would love to have

         10  the Whittenberg decision back.  It was something

         11  that I negotiated and when we negotiated and I

         12  offered them 50 cents on the dollar, they wanted it

         13  all, I won 98 cents on the dollar.  That is a very

         14  serious safety issue that I cannot allow to be

         15  amended in any fashion, shape or form.

         16                 Intro. 370 provides that steady tours

         17  may be implemented for reasons of management

         18  efficiency, which reasons are presumably include the

         19  subdivision of a facility and/or unit into smaller

         20  units of management.  Certainly, changing the size

         21  of units of management involve staffing and very

         22  likely safety issues.  In fact, part of COBA's

         23  agreement contemplates promotion of assistant

         24  additional deputy wardens.

         25                 You should know that there has been
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          2  an exchange of proposed letters between the City and

          3  the CCA to resolve the CCA's opposition to Intro.

          4  370.  This occurred only after the CCA notified the

          5  City Council of our opposition.  What remains

          6  unresolved is that we requested the status quo be

          7  continued, prior notice of any change and that

          8  implementation of any change affecting correction

          9  captains be held in abeyance until there is a final

         10  ruling in the event we file a challenge,

         11  administratively or judicially.

         12                 In the City's response, they did not

         13  include the notice and implementation provisions and

         14  the question of status quo is not resolved.

         15                 It is truly unfortunate that these

         16  differences remain.  If these differences could have

         17  been or could still be worked out, I would not be

         18  opposing 370.  I think I know my job and, again, as

         19  I say, having worked in a facility, I've seen it

         20  from all ends.  I don't think there's too many

         21  people in this room that can amass 34 years of

         22  experience in the New York City Department of

         23  Correction and 16 years of those 34 running the

         24  correction captains union, the first line

         25  supervisors.
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          2                 All we ask for here, I have no

          3  problem with implementing it for the ADW's who

          4  receive the credit and the benefit in their

          5  contract.  I have no problem nor any intent to

          6  interfere with what they did for COBA.  I applaud

          7  that.  All I'm asking for is to be given an

          8  opportunity to protect and preserve the things that

          9  I fought very hard for, which, apparently, does not

         10  seem to be a concern of the City or the Department

         11  of Correction.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. GREENBERG:  Good afternoon.  My

         13  name is Harry Greenberg and I'm counsel to the CCA.

         14  I have represented the CCA for approximately 16

         15  years and I represented them during grievance

         16  arbitrations, collective bargaining and other

         17  matters.

         18                 I'm sure the Members of the Committee

         19  know that unions that represents City employees of

         20  the Department of Correction are covered by the New

         21  York City Collective Bargaining Law and that the New

         22  York City Collective Bargaining Law is required to

         23  be substantially equivalent to the New York State

         24  Taylor Law.  As you may be aware, the public

         25  employer, the unions and the public employer must
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          2  bargain over terms and conditions of employment that

          3  have been classified as mandatory subjects of

          4  bargaining.

          5                 Currently, the CCA Collective

          6  Bargaining Agreement, in pertinent part, provides

          7  for provisions involving rescheduling of tours of

          8  duty and hours of work.  In pertinent part,

          9  rescheduling provisions may very well be impacted by

         10  the change in the Rotation Law.  I think you've

         11  heard of a lot that from prior witnesses about the

         12  sticks, the extra tours.  We have some of the same

         13  provisions and yet we have not, we're included in

         14  this change and we've never negotiated or met with

         15  them.

         16                 There is also a 1995 Memorandum of

         17  Agreement and Stipulation of Settlement.  Mr.

         18  Meringolo referred to that as the Whittenberg award.

         19  Whittenberg was the arbitrator.  We won and then we

         20  came to an agreement on how that award should be

         21  implement.  I'll refer to the Whittenberg Award as

         22  the 1995 MOA, which resolved a grievance concerning,

         23  and you've heard these words before, safety staffing

         24  issues involving security posts.

         25                 What's important is not just the
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          2  security and safety of our members, but the safety

          3  and security of the inmates as well.  Because you've

          4  heard from Mr. Seabrook that the mission and I'm

          5  surprised Mr., the Commissioner Horn didn't mention

          6  it, is care, custody and control.  We all know that.

          7                 Part of the 1995 MOA requires seven

          8  days notice to meet and confer with the CCA before

          9  any changes are made to any post referenced in the

         10  1995 MOA.  The 1995 MOA expressly states changing

         11  and staffing cannot violate the express terms or the

         12  spirit of the Memorandum of Agreement and

         13  Stipulation of Settlement.  Without further

         14  explanation, the change contemplated by Intro. 370

         15  gives this discretion to the City and would violate

         16  our agreement.  I'm sure the Council wouldn't want

         17  that result.

         18                 There is also a 1986 arbitration

         19  award commonly referred to as the Nicolau Award,

         20  referencing the arbitrator. The award involves

         21  rescheduling of tours of duty.  I am informed the

         22  arbitrator considered the provisions of 9- 116, the

         23  Rotation Law, when making his determination.  The

         24  changing of management units and the level of

         25  staffing may very well impact this award.
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          2                 Mr. Meringolo wrote the City Council

          3  by letter dated August 31, 2006, preliminarily,

          4  explaining the CCA's position.  Thereafter, I

          5  received correspondence and had discussions with

          6  representatives from the Mayor's Office of Labor

          7  Relations on this matter.

          8                 With the approval of Mr. Meringolo, I

          9  forwarded a proposal to resolve the CCA's issue with

         10  Intro. 370 to the City and they responded.

         11  Basically, the City's response, and I think this is

         12  important, in pertinent part, indicates Intro. 370

         13  will have no effect on the rights and the

         14  obligations of the City and the CCA under the

         15  Collective Bargaining Agreement, the 1995 MOA or the

         16  1986 Nicolau Award.

         17                 As I'm sure you're aware, when courts

         18  interpret statutory language, in many cases, the

         19  language in the law is controlling.  What the CCA is

         20  seeking to ensure is that the change in Section 9-

         21  116 does not change its aforementioned current

         22  rights or the future collective bargaining rights to

         23  bargain over terms and conditions of employment that

         24  the City is currently required to bargain by law.

         25                 In an effort to resolve the, to
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          2  resolve the CCA's issues with Intro. 370, the only

          3  remaining issues, as we see it, are notice,

          4  implementation and maintaining the status quo.  It

          5  appears the City is willing to agree to maintain our

          6  contractual rights and the rights under the 1995 MOA

          7  and the 1986 Nicolau Award.  We do not have a

          8  letter, that you will hear later, was given to the

          9  assistant deputy wardens or an agreement that Mr.

         10  Seabrook's COBA has.  We have nothing at this point.

         11                 I submit to you that these remaining

         12  issues are not insurmountable.  We seek your help in

         13  resolving these issues so CCA can remove its

         14  opposition to Intro. 370.

         15                 I was about to thank you for the

         16  opportunity, but, of speaking here, and I will, but

         17  I want to address some things from prior witnesses,

         18  if I may.  You heard some conflicting testimony as

         19  to how many people will be affected on, from

         20  rotating tours to steady tours.  I believe Mr.

         21  Seabrook was right, approximately half.  If you look

         22  at that, that's 4,500 people.  People who deploy

         23  people over time know that you have to be off at

         24  certain points.  So, that 4,500 now becomes 3,000,

         25  because a third of the people that are assigned are
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          2  off.  They work eight hour and 30 minute tours, 245

          3  appearances each year.

          4                 What's interesting is that leaves

          5  3,000 people. If it's divided equally and I'm not

          6  sure anywhere in 9- 116 that talks about equal

          7  distribution, but let's assume the testimony is

          8  correct, that's a thousand, a thousand and a

          9  thousand.  The steady tours will then supplement,

         10  the steady tours they have right now, will

         11  supplement the needs.  And, if they put nobody on

         12  steady tours, on midnight to eights, they'll only

         13  have a thousand officers.  If they need to put 100

         14  or 200 more, they can do that right now without

         15  amending the law.

         16                 I want to make it perfectly clear and

         17  I think Mr. Meringolo did also, we think the 1939

         18  law, as it relates to holding people criminally

         19  liable and forfeiture of job is archaic and that

         20  should be changed.  There's no question.  We think

         21  steady tours is a wonderful thing.  We don't want

         22  our current rights trampled on.  So, I think they

         23  have the flexibility they need right now, just based

         24  on these simple numbers.  Of course, you might want

         25  something more in- depth than just my poor opinion
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          2  on this.

          3                 Having said that, Mr. Seabrook was

          4  right when he said, this is not much of a change.

          5  If he's right and these numbers are correct, what's

          6  the rush?  It's been 67 years.  We're asking you to

          7  help us have an opportunity to get our side letter.

          8  We're not asking for money.  We're not asking for

          9  anything but what we have now.  We want to protect

         10  what we have now.  Now we stand ready for questions.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I want to thank

         12  you both for your time and testimony today.  I

         13  appreciate, Mr. Meringolo, you being here on behalf

         14  of your membership.  I do appreciate that and I am

         15  concerned about the lack of communication.

         16  Obviously, things work much better when there's

         17  communication going both ways.  So, I appreciate

         18  that point as well.  How many CCA members in total?

         19                 MR. MERINGOLO:  A little under 900

         20  now.  We're losing them at a very fast rate through

         21  retirement.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  How

         23  many, in your opinion, would be directly affected if

         24  370 does incorporate your members, how many would be

         25  directly affected?
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          2                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Well, right now,

          3  Councilman, I already have more than half of my

          4  members on steady tours.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.

          6                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Okay?  And, again,

          7  you know, one of the, well, one point I'd like to

          8  make is that I agree with stability.  I worked eight

          9  years around the clock, so I didn't even my

         10  children's birthdays, okay, or Christmas.  It took

         11  me ten years to start celebrating Christmas again.

         12  That's the job that I chose.  I'm not complaining

         13  about that.

         14                 But, what I find interesting is that

         15  mandating somebody onto a two to 11 tour does not

         16  necessarily give them stability.  So, one of the

         17  rights I want to protect is that what about a member

         18  who does not want to be steady midnight or steady

         19  two to 11.  I guess the issue here was that I don't

         20  have a problem, it wasn't negotiated with me, I'm

         21  not, I'm not complaining about it, I'm just, one of

         22  my basic rights as a union president is to make sure

         23  that what the members wanted me to do --  I find it

         24  interesting that they want to add stability, and

         25  that's a wonderful thing, but they don't have a
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          2  problem jeopardizing safety and security when they

          3  cut posts.

          4                 I, it's sad that I have to testify

          5  that it took me four years, I'm the only union in

          6  the City, that mandates they staff properly.  This

          7  should not be a mandate.  They should want to staff

          8  properly for safety and security.  Riots occur when

          9  the inmates know there are less people.  If I

         10  brought 100 captains in here right now, they would

         11  tell you one of the things they despise doing,

         12  they're mandated to cut officers' posts.

         13                 I agree with Norman.  Norman's worked

         14  very hard for his union.  What I disagree with is

         15  that, also, you're talking about someone who's

         16  worked inside the jail, someone who's been turned

         17  down for a steady post and not because I wasn't the

         18  most senior.  So, I put a little bit of cloud on

         19  that stuff. Again, my number one concern, they

         20  should do whatever they want, but they could have

         21  given me a little something.  I believe in my heart

         22  they would like to do away with Whittenberg, so then

         23  we could possibly have riots in the jail.  I'm not

         24  going to give up something that I've worked very

         25  hard for.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Are we of the

          3  belief and agreement that different times of day

          4  require different amount of personnel?

          5                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Absolutely, sir,

          6  absolutely. There's no, no doubt.  I mean,

          7  obviously, on the midnight tour, I mean we always

          8  used to make a simple expression that when the two

          9  to 11 tour comes in, okay, you have maybe 30 or 40

         10  people from all different ranks, representing 350

         11  that go home.  We always laugh because we said, we

         12  come in and do the job that 350 just did.  So, I

         13  mean, it's  --  and then when you go to the

         14  midnights, it's the graveyard tour.  So, you,

         15  obviously, don't need as many people.

         16                 However, it should not decrease from

         17  the fact that you should not be cutting an officer's

         18  post.  Right now, they cut officer's posts at will

         19  and captains complain about that.  When you cut an

         20  officer's posts  --  we've had riots under previous

         21  commissioners, inmates, if you're supposed to have

         22  ten officers in the yard, why you do it with seven?

         23  We've had riots.  Inmates know, they have 24 hours a

         24  day, seven days a week.  So, it's interesting that

         25  I'm a proponent of steady tours, but I'm a bigger

                                                            94

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  proponent of safety.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Of course.  Is

          4  it your opinion that with Intro. 370, again, given

          5  the need for additional personnel at a given time,

          6  that the flexibility exists within 370 to allocate

          7  more personnel  --

          8                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Yeah.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  --  In those

         10  instances  --

         11                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Absolutely, yes sir.

         12                 MR. GREENBERG:  Right now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.

         14                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Right now it does.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I'm saying with

         16  this new Intro., with Intro. 370, if it should be

         17  implemented, it would allow for the flexibility of

         18  increasing personnel  --  right now you have a

         19  rigid, equal amount of three groups and that's the

         20  rotation.  This, again, is it the fact that

         21  implementation of Intro. 370 would allow for

         22  flexibility of increasing personnel when the need

         23  arises as opposed to the rigid nature of the wheel?

         24                 MR. GREENBERG:  And one, what I, the

         25  way to reply to you is this way, right now, I think
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          2  they have the flexibility and you've heard Norman

          3  talk about flexibility, you heard Commissioner

          4  Hanley and Horn and just on their bare facts, if

          5  half of the people are on steady tours, leaving the

          6  other 4,500, right now they have basic, basic

          7  numbers, a thousand, a thousand, a thousand.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, and then

          9   --

         10                 MR. GREENBERG:  Wait, wait, I'm

         11  sorry, and 1,500 that are off.  Now, they have the

         12  other 4,500 to supplement them in any way they wish

         13  on steady tours, right now.  Does Intro. Give them,

         14  Intro. 370 give them a little bit more flexibility?

         15  Yes.  That's the bottom line, but they have the

         16  flexibility they need now.

         17                 Do I think steady tours in this

         18  Intro. Should be passed?  Yes, but we, let them

         19  write it so it says correction officers and ADWs and

         20  later they can put us in when we get an assurance

         21  that none of our rights are jeopardized.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  There, again,

         23  the only reason I think this is an issue, is there

         24  is language in Intro. 370, should it be implemented,

         25  and the language reads: At the discretion of the
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          2  warden or other officer, officers in charge of the

          3  institution, other tours of duty may be created and

          4  such tours of duty shall hereinafter be designated

          5  as miscellaneous tours of duty.  So, I see that as

          6  some sort of flexibility, even under this

          7  implementation of Intro. 370, to allow for extra

          8  personnel in a given situation at the discretion  --

          9                 MR. GREENBERG:  There's miscellaneous

         10  tours right now, Mr., Councilman Addabbo  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay, okay.

         12                 MR. GREENBERG:  --  Right in the law.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Your current

         14  contract status, if I may?

         15                 MR. MERINGOLO:  I recently settled my

         16  contract because it expires in a couple of months,

         17  but we recently settled it and  --

         18                 MR. GREENBERG:  We're current.

         19                 MR. MERINGOLO:  We're current.  We're

         20  current.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Right and your

         22  expiration of your contract?  I'm sorry, you said in

         23  a couple of months?

         24                 MR. MERINGOLO:  No, actually, no,

         25  what is it? November   '07.  I'm sorry, it's a
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          2  little bit longer than that, it's November of  '07.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.  Last

          4  question, again, I don't know, any questions from my

          5  colleagues at this point?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I apologize

          7  for being out. We had this Council- mandated program

          8  I had to go to, which you know about.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Council Member

         10  Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  So, I think

         12  this is one of those, how could I not vote for a tie

         13  up of Intros. 370.  It just really is the fact that

         14  between the midnight and approximately 8:00 a.m. or

         15  6:00 a.m., whatever the heck it is, there is less

         16  need to have a compliment of staffing during that

         17  time.  This is like a proven thing, right?

         18                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Yeah, but they're

         19  doing it right now.  Again, what it is for me, I'm,

         20  people that want steady tours are on them right now.

         21    What it is for me is protecting rights that I've

         22  won, that I've had to arbitrate for years that also

         23  disability and my members' safety.

         24                 All I've asked for here is to be

         25  included on the dance floor.  It is a little
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          2  interesting that I'm one of the longest running

          3  union presidents in this City and I don't get the

          4  opportunity to talk about something that could, you

          5  know, when you don't bring me into the room, you

          6  cannot fault me for starting to wonder why.

          7                 You know, people would like to make

          8  it  -- listen, I have worked for 16 commissioners in

          9  the New York City Department of Correction in a 34-

         10  year period.  You do that math, okay.  I have been

         11  the union president for 16 years.  Of my 24 years as

         12  a captain, I've been on the Executive Board 23.  I

         13  think that says a little bit about what I do for my

         14  members.

         15                 I think my biggest concern here,

         16  stability? My members have rights.  I will tell you,

         17  I will testify first- hand, it's great, let's add

         18  the stability and then check the grievances on who

         19  doesn't get what post and why they don't get them.

         20  See, the problem here is when you have a person who

         21  worked inside the prisons for 18 years in two

         22  different ranks, correction officer and captain, and

         23  when you have someone who has more time than most of

         24  the people testifying here in the Department of

         25  Correction, maybe I know a little bit too much.
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          2                 MR. GREENBERG:  I'd just like to

          3  further respond, if I may.  Imagine buying a house

          4  and then somebody passes a law and says, half of

          5  your house is gone.  That's what we're talking about

          6  here.  That's what we're talking about.  We think

          7  steady tours is good  --  I'm doing this because you

          8  weren't here earlier  --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Yes.

         10                 MR. GREENBERG:  --  Okay?  We think

         11  steady tours are good.  We think the archaic section

         12  on criminal liability and forfeiture should be

         13  eliminated.  We think Intro. 370 is great, but what

         14  we don't like and the reason we're here is we have a

         15  contract provision, we have a 1995 Memorandum of

         16  Agreement and a 1986 Arbitration Award that will be

         17  affected.

         18                 We're saying we had correspondence

         19  with the Mayor's Office of Labor Relations, Jim

         20  Hanley's office, he was here testifying.  They will

         21  not, they've indicated a willingness to indicate,

         22  even though it's not the same as a statutory

         23  language, which courts interpret, right? To say, you

         24  don't lose any contract, you don't lose any

         25  contractual right, you don't lose any Memorandum of
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          2  Agreement right, you don't lose any Arbitration

          3  right.  That's nice.  But, when you go to your

          4  lawyer and say, does this protect me?  That's

          5  another issue.  We, the people who are lawyers here

          6  will know what courts do.  They look at the law and

          7  that's what they interpret.

          8                 So, the other three items we look to

          9  get, which we haven't gotten yet, is notice, tell us

         10  what you're going to do to change, hold off

         11  implementation, if we think there's a problem, until

         12  we get a final resolution.  That's what we're

         13  looking for, and status quo, don't hurt anybody

         14  during that period of time. That's what we're

         15  looking for.

         16                 Let me tell you, after 16 years of

         17  representing this union, we know how to make deals.

         18  We're willing to negotiate this quickly to pass this

         19  law and have it covered.  I mean, just take us out

         20  of it and we'll go away.  You know, make it

         21  correction officers and ADWs or anybody else and

         22  when we get our side letter or whatever we get,

         23  we'll be happy to be included, because we think it's

         24  a good idea.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you.
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          2  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Thank you

          4  Council Member Nelson.  Can Intro. 370 be

          5  implemented without affecting your members?

          6                 MR. GREENBERG:  Unless you change the

          7  definition, no.  As long as, listen, when you go to

          8  court, the judge is going to look at the statute and

          9  it defines, right in the first Section of 9- 116,

         10  correction captain, we're there.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  But  --

         12                 MR. GREENBERG:  You change the law

         13   --  I'm sorry.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Excuse me, no,

         15  just so I'm very, very clear, that's saying it could

         16  affect your members. I'm asking, can Intro. 370 be

         17  implemented without affecting your members and I

         18  believe it could.

         19                 MR. GREENBERG:  If they give us the

         20  letter, it could.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Even without

         22  the letter, I believe it could.  They don't have to

         23  affect your members and implement Intro. 370.

         24                 MR. GREENBERG:  It gives the

         25  Commissioner the discretion to do that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Okay.

          3                 MR. GREENBERG:  And then when he does

          4  it, I'm stuck.

          5                 MR. MERINGOLO:  And the only thing I

          6  would add on that, Councilman, we have, I mean,

          7  right now, and, again, you have to understand, we

          8  have an Arbitration Award, the  '95 MOA, the

          9  Whittenberg Agreement.  That is clearly defined as

         10  to what they can and cannot do.  What, in essence,

         11  that law did, it identified posts in the New York

         12  City Department of Correction as security posts and

         13  mandates the Department cannot close those posts.

         14  That's a wonderful thing.  I don't go around hailing

         15  myself as the chief, but that's a wonderful thing

         16  that the Department cannot close a post and

         17  jeopardize safety.  Every day they violate that

         18  award.  I can show you the grievances.

         19                 So, what's inherent here is I'm all

         20  in favor of everything Norman Seabrook wants and

         21  Sidney Schwartzbaum wants. But, I need to have my

         22  rights protected and that Whittenberg Agreement goes

         23  to the heart of more than stability.  To me, safety,

         24  a correction officer returning home safe, the way he

         25  or she came to work, is important.
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          2                 I think it's pretty obvious that

          3  everything I've had to earn in these 16 years have

          4  had to be done through arbitration.  I've made

          5  deals.  I've asked to make a deal now.

          6                 I just think that the question I

          7  would ask you is, if they really wanted my support,

          8  why did they leave me out? Why, when I spoke to you,

          9  Councilman Addabbo, was the first time, by accident,

         10  I found out there was a law?  I mean, think about

         11  that, someone's putting something forward.  Now, you

         12  pick up the phone, I'm not, they know who I am, I've

         13  been here 34 years, okay, longer than all the

         14  commissioners combined.

         15                 So, I just have my doubts as to why

         16  they're excluding me.  Does that beg the question,

         17  are they looking to do something that, in turn,

         18  could jeopardize?  Yeah, I don't, you know what?

         19  Unfortunately, I have to say it, there's no inherent

         20  trust.  There was inherent trust with prior

         21  administrations. There is none right now and I'm

         22  sorry I have to say that, but my basic job as a

         23  union leader, and I've done it for 16 years, five

         24  elections I've won, four of them on the post.  So, I

         25  think my basic job has been to protect my members'
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          2  rights and I think I've done a pretty good job of

          3  that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  There being no

          5  other question, I want to thank you very much for

          6   --

          7                 MR. MERINGOLO:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  --  Your time

          9  and testimony today.  Thank you very much.  Our last

         10  panel, Mr. Sidney Schwartzbaum.  This will be the

         11  last panel for today's Hearing. Just please state

         12  your full name, your affiliation and give your

         13  testimony please.  You're good.

         14                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM:  My name is Sidney

         15  Schwartzbaum. I'm the President of the Assistant

         16  Deputy Wardens- Deputy Wardens Association, the

         17  highest ranking uniformed union in New York City

         18  Department of Correction.

         19                 Dear Chairman Addabbo and Council

         20  Members, I want to thank you for the opportunity to

         21  testify here today.  Our union represents second and

         22  third line supervisory personnel within the New York

         23  City Department of Correction.  These supervisors

         24  are equivalent in rack structure, responsibilities

         25  and salaries with NYPD lieutenants and captains.  I
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          2  testify before you today in support of Intro. 370,

          3  after painstakingly scrutinizing its contents,

          4  implications and the potential ramifications if

          5  ratified.

          6                 Intro. 370 seeks to accomplish the

          7  elimination of two provisions of Section 9- 116c of

          8  the Administrative Code, which limits the assignment

          9  of steady tours to specific percentages and

         10  criminalizes the action of the Commissioner of

         11  Correction if those percentages are not adhered to

         12  and mandates his or her removal.

         13                 The present law, as it stands now,

         14  states that 25 percent of each individual facility's

         15  A Squad or seven to three, Monday through Friday,

         16  weekends off, cannot exceed 25 percent of the total

         17  amount of officers assigned to that facility.  In

         18  addition, what it does is puts a mandate of that 15

         19  percent of the officers or custodial officers in the

         20  entire Department of Correction cannot be on steady

         21  tours.  It limits it to 15 percent.  As of now, we

         22  are violating the law.

         23                 The New York City Department of

         24  Correction's policy of awarding posts and tours is

         25  enumerated within Departmental Operations Order 14

                                                            106

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2  of 91, which gives various criteria on how post

          3  assignments are awarded from seniority to attendance

          4  to your record.

          5                 Having steady custodial officers in

          6  the various facilities enhances security by invoking

          7  supervisory accountability with staff and continuity

          8  in the supervision of inmates and developing

          9  structure for our inmates, a necessary component

         10  which was lacking in many of their lives prior to

         11  incarceration.  Steady tours of duty for staff

         12  improves their home life, decreases broken marriages

         13  and, most importantly, is healthier for our

         14  workforce.

         15                 The complexity of working within the

         16  prison system is a highly stressful environment and

         17  coupled with rotating tours every four days has

         18  shown to decrease the life span of those employees

         19  by up to ten years.  Studies have shown that only

         20  air traffic controllers have a more stressful

         21  employment than uniformed correctional employees.

         22  These conditions have manifested itself with a life

         23  expectancy of only 58 years of age, a sad legacy for

         24  a noble job.

         25                 The Assistant Deputy Wardens
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          2  Association supports this legislation because the

          3  amendments removes the antiquated percentages

          4  imposed upon the Department almost 70 years ago.  It

          5  also offers opportunity for assistant deputy wardens

          6  to work a consistent work schedule with steady

          7  subordinate staff to effectively implement policy

          8  and procedure.  This legislation would also abolish

          9  the criminal liabilities and removal of

         10  commissioners who fail to comply with the

         11  percentages described before.

         12                 So, if all of these things are so

         13  positive, why was the Assistant Deputy Wardens

         14  Association initially reticent and hesitant about

         15  this legislation?  A basic tenet of sound and

         16  harmonious labor relations is, labor relations is

         17  communication, intelligent discourse and the ability

         18  to work through situations which could adversely

         19  impact upon members' rights.  This is not only a

         20  union's right, it is the union's legal obligation.

         21                 Since the term custodial officers

         22  legally includes members of my union, I believe we

         23  should have had the opportunity to be part of this

         24  process, which affects our membership, during the

         25  initial stages in the drafting of this legislation.
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          2  Only recently, after several straightforward

          3  discussions, have my union and the City of New York

          4  come to a resolution that addressed our concerns.

          5  Consensus could have been achieved much sooner if we

          6  had been included earlier in this process.  And, in

          7  fact, within just a one week span, our attorneys and

          8  the Office of Labor Relations were able to resolve

          9  our minor differences and get language which

         10  protected our rights.

         11                 Lastly, basically, this legislation

         12  removes percentages that are deemed to be criminal

         13  and violate the law. I support those changes.

         14  However, there is also a section of 9 116, Section

         15  b, which I believe we are also violating on a

         16  continuous basis, which states that, basically, an

         17  assistant deputy warden, which is my rank, if I were

         18  to order a captain or a correction officer to work

         19  more than ten hours consecutively, I'd be violating

         20  this law.

         21                 As we've stated before, these laws

         22  are antiquated, they came about in 1939.  Although I

         23  support Intro. 370, I would hope the Mayor's Office

         24  and this Council would look at this law and remove

         25  it because my members are violating the law.
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          2                 The Department of Correction and the

          3  City of New York should not cherry pick only parts

          4  of Section 9- 116 that it thinks needs amending.  I

          5  urge this Council to hold Hearings at a later date

          6  to enforce the established laws within 9- 116 in its

          7  entirety and support legislation to abolish the

          8  aforementioned provisions.

          9                 In closing, I support Intro. 370 at

         10  this time and I'm open for any questions on how it

         11  affects the operation of jails.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Just a quick

         13  question, Mr. Schwatzbaum, the number of members

         14  that you speak of?

         15                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM:  Presently there

         16  are 100 assistant deputy wardens and approximately

         17  50 deputy wardens. Assistant deputy wardens on the

         18  four to 12 and the midnight shift are the highest

         19  ranking member on duty and basically serve in the

         20  capacity as the warden.  Also, on the seven to three

         21  shift on midnights on day tours and holidays.

         22                 So, basically, I would say 90 percent

         23  of assistant deputy wardens work rotating shifts.

         24  So, this legislation, as it stands now, this

         25  legislation would greatly improve their lives too
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          2  and would benefit the entire Department of people

          3  having steady tours, continuity.  Like as Norman and

          4  Pete stated before, the inmates would see the same

          5  people all the time, they develop structure and it's

          6  a, it's a win win.

          7                 My only concerns were this, when this

          8  legislation came about and I think it was touched on

          9  before.  The most coveted tour is the seven to three

         10  tour.  People like to be home at night, they like to

         11  be at the dinner table with their kids, they like to

         12  do homework, most people, depending on if your wife

         13  or husband work different shifts.

         14                 To mandate somebody to work a three

         15  to 11 or four to 12 shift is, yeah, it gives them a

         16  steady shift, but you're not getting any piece of

         17  the pie.  At least on rotating shifts, on the seven

         18  to three tour you're with your family, on the

         19  midnight tour you're at the dinner table.  So, it's

         20  only one out of, one week out of the month.

         21                 Our concerns were that nobody would

         22  be forced to work a steady shift involuntarily.

         23  Those concerns were allayed by both Commissioner

         24  Hanley and Commissioner Horn and there were other,

         25  there was another pressing issue regarding, as Peter
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          2  stated before, the Nicolau decision, which basically

          3  rendered the decision that the New York City

          4  Department of Correction was violating the Rotation

          5  Law by manipulating the law.

          6                 So, do the unions have a right and a

          7  concern?  Yes we do and basic tenet of labor

          8  relations, as I said before, is to get through those

          9  obstacles through open and intelligent discourse.

         10  This was accomplished within one week and I would

         11  suggest that in the future, any legislation that

         12  affects other unions should, everybody should be

         13  brought to the table, so we can resolve these issues

         14  in a more expeditious manner.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  That's my next

         16  line of questioning, is obviously a notice issue,

         17  which you had brought up, which concerns me greatly

         18  regarding your members.  You reached out to the

         19  Administration after you had this notice issue and

         20  were able to resolve your issues?  Is that correct?

         21                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM:  Yes.  Originally,

         22  I saw the legislation and it seemed like, it seemed

         23  like a good thing and it is a good thing.  However,

         24  there were, there were specific issues  --  you have

         25  to understand the history of the Department of
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          2  Correction, which we, which we brought up with the

          3  Nicolau decision.  There was manipulation there.

          4  There was legislation regarding the pension system

          5  in this City regarding the correction officers,

          6  negotiated a pension prior to Norman Seabrook's

          7  tenure, which demolished the career path on this

          8  job.

          9                 So, when these antennas go up, not

         10  only do we have a right to ask questions, we have a

         11  legal obligations and that's why unions ask these

         12  questions, that's why we're elected.  So, I don't

         13  think anybody is against steady tours.  I mean,

         14  steady tours is beneficial to everybody, the

         15  Department, unions.  It's just that you don't want

         16  to give away the baby in the bath water.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Any questions

         18  from my colleagues?  There not being any questions,

         19  thank you very much for your time and testimony.

         20                 MR. SCHWARTZBAUM:  Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Just would also

         23  like to state before this Committee does a vote that

         24  there, according to our Finance Division, there is

         25  no financial impact on the City as far as cost is
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          2  concerned.  That's always a good thing.  At this

          3  point, I'd like to call the roll for the Committee

          4  for a vote on Intro. 370.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Time out, one

          7  second.  Thank you for your patience.  That's okay.

          8  Please call the roll.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Addabbo.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Nelson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Aye.

         13                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Seabrook.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK:  Thank you

         15  Mr. Chairman, to explain my vote, I'd like to be

         16  included on the bill, if possible, and I vote aye.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Mark Viverito.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK VIVERITO:  Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of four in

         20  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         21  abstentions, all items are adopted.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO:  I want to thank

         23  my colleagues for being here today and for their

         24  patience.  For those who have participated in

         25  today's Hearing, thank you very much.  This meeting
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          2  is adjourned.  Have a great day.  Please sign the

          3  Committee Reports, Members, please.

          4                 (Hearing concluded at 3:20 p.m.)

          5                 (The following written testimony was

          6  read into the record.)

          7

          8  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          9  LILLIAN ROBERTS

         10  DISTRICT COUNCIL 37

         11

         12                 On behalf of the 121,000 members and

         13  50,000 retirees of District Council 37, I want to

         14  start by thanking the Chair of the Civil Service and

         15  Labor Committee, Joseph Addabbo, as well as the

         16  other committee members for the opportunity to

         17  testify before you today on civil service

         18  opportunities in New York City: An update on

         19  recruitment, testing, and training.

         20                 According to the Department of

         21  Administrative Services' (DCAS') Examination

         22  Schedule, only 100 exams will be offered during this

         23  fiscal year.  When you consider that there are

         24  almost 30,000 provisionals in the City, and

         25  approximately 1300 competitive class titles in the
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          2  City, the number of exams offered is extremely small

          3  and can in no way put a dent in the number of

          4  provisionals.  Less than 40 of the titles on this

          5  Examination Schedule are titles represented by DC

          6  37, and we represent the bulk of the titles in the

          7  City.

          8                 DCAS selects the titles to add to its

          9  examination schedule.  In most cases, unless we sue

         10  or threaten to sue for an exam, few of our titles

         11  get added to the exam schedule. Moreover, even if

         12  exams are given, the amount of time between

         13  administering of an exam and the establishment and

         14  movement of a civil service list is too lengthy.  It

         15  is our experience that more than one year, and in

         16  some cases up to two years, elapses between

         17  applicants taking an exam and getting appointed from

         18  a list.

         19                 When the functions of the Department

         20  of Personnel (managing people) was consolidated with

         21  the functions of General Services (managing real

         22  estate), it was clear to us that the principles of

         23  civil service was going to play a secondary role in

         24  the City.  We believe that one of the reasons that

         25  there are so many provisionals and so few exams is
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          2  because the personnel functions of DCAS are

          3  underfunded.  More resources need to be applied to

          4  that area.

          5                 Not only must money be allocated for

          6  administering exams, but also for the work

          7  associated with giving the exam. This includes

          8  personnel to establish and certify lists.  If exams

          9  are given, but there is not enough oversight to

         10  ensure that lists established from those exams are

         11  properly used, then the time and energy expended to

         12  give the exam is for nothing.  Not to mention, the

         13  money and energy taken by our members to take the

         14  exam.  Many times, DC 37 must sue or threaten to sue

         15  to compel agencies to move civil service lists.  It

         16  should not be that lawsuits are the only way to

         17  force exams or movement of lists.  Unless, DCAS is

         18  given the authority and the personnel to oversee

         19  that the principles of merit and fitness are

         20  effectively implemented, the issues we raise here

         21  will not be resolved.

         22                 Finally, we are not pleased with the

         23  use of the one- in- three rule.  I understand you

         24  will be addressing this at a hearing in November and

         25  we will testify at that time on the issue.

                                                            117

          1  COMMITTEE ON CIVIL SERVICE AND LABOR

          2                 Once again, thank you for the

          3  opportunity to testify before you today and I look

          4  forward to working with you in the future.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:20 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 24th day of October 2006.
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         25                          CHERYL MILLER
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          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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